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Review of Exploration Activities

Northern Zone Gold Project

In May 2023, Riversgold signed a farm-in agreement with UK listed Oracle Power Plc (Oracle) and immediately
embarked on an aggressive drilling program with first results announced in August 2023.2 The Company
advised the market that it had exercised its option to own the 80% interest in the Northern Zone tenement in
February 2025.2 Northern Zone is owned by Riversgold 80% and Oracle 20%.
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Figure 1: Northern Zone Project Map showing proximity to the Kalgoorlie "Super Pit".

Northern Zone is hosted within a porphyry unit (tonalite- trondhjemite Intrusion, TTI), with high background
gold and horizontal gold mineralised units within the TTIl unit. The project sits within the Canon Shear or fault
zone, with further drilling required to define the limits of mineralisation identified to date. The horizontal
mineralisation makes drilling to date perpendicular to the gold mineralisation, and no water in drilling to a
depth of 60 metres makes the TTI also suitable for drilling the techniques RGL has utilised to date.

Metallurgical test work using cyanide bottle roll has closely replicated the original 2023 work previously
reported, when the company completed due diligence on the project. The results between 90.64% and 94.7%
for 5 samples, average 92.56% gold recovery.*

L ASX announcement dated 9 May 2023: Farm-in to Significant Porphyry Hosted Gold Project

2 ASX announcement dated 21 August 2023: Completion of Diamond Drilling of Northern Zone 26km ESE of Kalgoorlie

3 ASX announcement dated 18 February 2025: Kalgoorlie Gold Project Option Exercised to Own 80% 25km east of Kalgoorlie
4 RGL ASX announcement dated 20 May 2025: Metallurgy of Oxide Samples show over 90% Gold Recovery
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A select sample of the many drill results reported to date are listed below:*®

=  18m at 4.14g/t Au from 36m (NZRC001)
* 10m at 8.89 g/t Au from 46m (NZAC127)
= 7mat3.14 g/t Au from 47m (NZAC124)
" 5mat1.26 g/t Au from 46m (NZAC132)
= 12mat0.80 g/t Au from 32m (NZAC118)
" 6mat6.12 g/t Aufrom 35m (NZRC012)
= 1lmat1.38 g/t Aufrom 80m (NZRCO15)
= 18mat1.94 g/t Au from 49m (NZRCO16)
= 15mat2.1 g/t Aufrom 39m (NZRC007)
= 5mat4.37 g/t Aufrom 37m (NZRC008)

®* 15mat0.75 g/t Au from 35m (NZRC010)
= 8m at4.86 g/t Au from 34m (NZAC090)
= 6mat3.13 g/t Au from 30m (NZAC097)
= 5mat3.74 g/t Au from 31m (NZAC100)
= 5mat12.27 g/t Aufrom 32m (NZAC062)
= 6m at3.48 g/t Au from 73m (NZAC077)
= 8m at 2.07 g/t Au from 50m (NZACO079)
= 4m at6.92 g/t Au from 57m (NZAC061)
= 7mat3.9g/t Aufrom 35m (NZAC055)
16m at 4.69 g/t Au from 30m (NZACO033)

The geological model, and previously announced Exploration Target at the Northern Zone Gold Project
remains valid, with a range of 200Mt - 250Mt at a grade of 0.4 g/t Au - 0.6 g/t Au for an Exploration Target of
2.5Moz - 4.8Moz of gold.’

The Northern Zone Project has an Exploration Target of 200 to 250 million tonnes at a grade of 0.4 g/t to 0.6
g/t Au for an Exploration Target of 2.5 to 4.8 million oz of gold, as announced by RGL to the ASX on the 9 May
2023. The potential quantity and grade of the Exploration Target is conceptual in nature. There has been
insufficient exploration to estimate a Mineral Resource and it is uncertain if further exploration will result in
the estimation of a Mineral Resource. The reader is advised that an Exploration Target is based on existing drill
results and geological observations from drilling as well as interpretation of multiple available datasets. The
Exploration Target is based on historical and Oracle drilling results. It uses data from 53 historical drillholes
drilled between 1998 and 2012, and 7 drillholes drilled by Oracle in 2021. Refer to Appendix 1 of the
announcement dated 9 May 2023 for further information with respect to these exploration results.

For personal use only

Conceptually, the Company also draws parallels between Northern Zone and Saturn Metals’ Apollo Hill Project,
discerning similarities based on the PEA statement released by Saturn Metals (ASX: 17 August 2023), which
suggests the potential for a sizeable low-grade heap leach operation. Saturn Metals Limited has released a
Preliminary Economic Assessment (PEA) on the Apollo Hill Gold Project which is located 175km due north of

5 RGL ASX announcements dated 19 March 2025: Gold results continue at Kalgoorlie East Project, 3 April 2025: Gold results continue to shine at
Kalgoorlie East Project, 11 April 2025: Wide gold intercepts continue from Kalgoorlie East, and 23 April 2025: Gold results continue to expand
Kalgoorlie East Project

6 RGL ASX announcements dated 26 November 2024: High-Grade Gold Intercepts Continue at Northern Zone, 27 August 2024: Gold Grades Continue
to Impress at Northern Zone, and 11 July 2024: Northern Zone Delivers Further High-Grade Gold Intercepts

7 RGL ASX announcement dated 9 May 2023: Farm into Significant Porphyry Hosted Gold Project
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Northern Zone. With a resource estimate of 118Mt at 0.53g/t gold, totalling 2.03Moz8, this development
serves as a benchmark for our aspirations at Northern Zone, albeit with the potential for Northern Zone to be
an even larger project.

The Company has executed a binding Right to Mine and Co-Operation Agreement with MEGA Resources
(MEGA) for the right to mine (the MEGA Agreement) with respect to Northern Zone Gold Project Kalgoorlie.

Under the MEGA Agreement, MEGA will pay for 100% of the costs to develop and mine at Northern Zone,
including paying for all ancillary activities (which incorporates haulage of material to the point of sale,
maintenance of haul roads and processing costs).

In return for MEGA paying for all of the upfront costs at Northern Zone, any profit generated from this
partnership will be split 50% to MEGA and 50% to the Project Owners.

Saint John Copper Gold Antimony Project — New Brunswick, Canada

Riversgold signed an option agreement® on 9 October 2024 to acquire 100% of the Saint John high-grade
antimony, gold, copper and silver project, located in New Brunswick, Canada. The Project covers 101km? over
5 claims with all claims in good standing.

In September 2025, the Company executed an farm-out agreement with Canadian listed A.l.S. Resources
Limited ("AIS") (TSXV:AIS, OTC Pink: AISSF), allowing Riversgold to focus on developing the Kalgoorlie Northern
Zone Gold Project, while retaining a meaningful exposure to this exciting project.

Under the agreement, AIS can earn up to 75% of the Saint John Project under the following key terms:

On signing: AlS to issue 2,860,000 AIS shares at CS0.05 per share to Riversgold.
To earn 51%, AIS must spend:

=  Year 1: C$400,000 on early exploration, including drone MobileMT surveys, IP survey; and 1,000
metres of approved drilling.

= Year 2: C$1 million additional drilling.
To earn 75%, AlS must spend:

For personal use only

*  Year 3-4: CS3 million on drilling and early development work.

Riversgold will retain a 25% free-carried interest through to decision to mine.

During the course of the year, the Company conducted a number of sampling programs with significant assay
results continuing to validate and extend previous prospector activity and underpin preliminary mineralisation
concepts.

8 STN ASX announcement dated 12 February 2025: Apollo Hill Gold Resources Exceeds 2Moz
9 RGL ASX announcement 9 October 2024: Antimony Copper Gold at Saint John, New Brunswick, Canada
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Figure 2: Saint John Project location, illustrating the prospect locations, figure extents and RGL rock chip sample locations.

Petrophysics on a sulphide sample RKO08302 that assayed 10.15% Cu and 65.8g/t Ag'® has shown very high IP/
chargeability. The sulphide sample RKO08302 (Figure 7) from the Prince of Wales Prospect has demonstrated very high
chargeability levels that are expected to define a very high IP response, correlating low galvanic resistivity compared to
local host rocks and a low but detectable electromagnetic (EM) response if the sulphide unit has a reasonable

thickness/areal dimensions.

The results of the petrophysics indicate that Drone MMT could quickly assist with defining new targets and prioritising
existing targets with broader coverage. This larger survey area would be utilized in conjunction with targeted ground

IP/resistivity surveying over defined priority MMT anomalies.
Petrophysics Results:

The IP chargeability values are around 210 to 220 mSec
The galvanic resistivity is about 170 to 180 Ohm.m
The inductive (EM) conductivity is ~1-4 S/m

Chargeability values and responses guide of background to very strong:

0 to 15 — background

20 to 40 — low response

40 to 60 — moderate response

60 to 100 — good response

100 to 200 — strong response

200 to 300 — very strong response

10 RGL ASX announcement 12 December 2024: Significant New Canadian Copper Discovery
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Figure 3: Prince Of Wales prospect sample RK008302 10.15% Cu and 65.8g/t Ag belng tested for Induced Polarlsatlon, chargeability,
galvanic resistivity and inductive conductivity
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Figure 4: Prince of Wales roadside cutting with exposed mineralisation.

11 RGL ASX announcement 12 December 2024: Significant New Canadian Copper Discovery
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Figure 5: Little Lepreau prospect location showing previous rock chip sampling locations and highlighting significant multi-element
results.
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Figure 6: Hideaway prospect location showing previous rock chip sampling locations and highlighting significant multi-element results.
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Tambourah Project — located 160km southeast of Port Hedland

The Tambourah Lithium Project in the Pilbara of Western Australia comprises adjacent Tambourah
tenements E45/5721 and E45/6115 and prospecting license, P45/3153 covering an area of prospective
greenstones in the southern part of the main Tambourah tenement, E45/5721.

Sampling at multiple prospects, including Logans Find, Lone Star, Hawkstone, Shaw Mullock and
Trafalgar returned outstanding rock chip results with up to 21.78% copper and up to 101g/t (3.20z/t)
gold*?.

Site visits have validated the historical exploration results and confirmed an anomalous copper and
gold trend over a 12km strike length. An update of the regional geological modelling is currently
underway, which will provide the basis for a revised exploration strategy for the entire Tambourah
Project.

TEM15 Rock Chip Sample | |
1%Cu, 82.2-101g/tAul, |

o TEM14RockchipSample[ A )
| ‘ 1.48% Cu, 10.69/tA & " ‘

)

. [TEM10Rock Chip Sample|
X I 4.57% Cu,0.6/t Au:
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| June 2024 - Site Visit |
RGL Rock Chip Samples Cu (%) | |
1] 0-025%

Tambourah Historic Mines
L | Hawkstone 1970-71 Drilling
Percussion Collars

Figure 7: Tambourah Project illustrating the anomalous copper and gold sample locations. Five areas were visited during the field trip:
Logans Find, Lone Star, Hawkstone, Shaw Mullock and Trafalgar

12 RGL ASX announcement dated 15 July 2024: 3.2 ounces/t gold and 4.1% copper from Lone Star Prospect Tambourah
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Wodgina East Iron Ore Project

Granted project, Wodgina East sits immediately adjacent to the Wodgina Lithium mine in the Pilbara
region of Western Australia which is located only 120km south of Port Hedland.

Phase 1 reconnaissance exploration was completed in 2024 at the Wodgina East Project and identified
several potential channel iron deposits (CID) 3. Detailed geological and satellite imagery mapping
(Figure 13) of the area has delineated two erosional resistant mesas extending over 1.5 km in length.
One of the mesas is capped by a hard, goethite-hematite, pisolitic (to oolitic) clastic sedimentary unit,
interpreted to be physically transported iron derived from the erosion of laterite hardcap. The clastic
iron fragments are cemented by iron oxides. Review of historical open-file exploration data showed
that Mesa 2 returned 8 rock chip samples ranging from 51.94% to 56.67% Fe. These samples were
collected by Hemisphere Resources in 2011 and 2012.

The expanding Wodgina Lithium Mine can be seen in the below photo along the northwest boundary
of Riversgold’s Wodgina East (granted tenement E45/6363).

For personal use only

Figure 8: Oblique orthophoto on Wodgina East tenement (E45/6363), looking North West towards the Wodgina Lithium Mine, operated
by Mineral Resources Limited. The operations are getting closer.

13 RGL ASX announcement dated 30 May 2024: Channel Iron Delineated at Wodgina East, Pilbara

10
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Figure 9: Mapped Geology of Wodgina East Project (E45/6363)
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WA Uranium

The Onslow South Project (E08/3682), an Exploration Licence application covering 324km?, is located
approximately 40km south of Onslow. The tenement under application is considered highly prospective for
uranium, as it abuts the northern boundary of Cauldron Energy Limited’s (ASX:CXU) Yanrey Uranium Project
which contains to the south a mineral resource estimate at Bennet Well containing 30.9 million pounds
(~14,000t) of contained uranium oxide (Indicated plus Inferred Mineral Resource of 38.9 million tonnes grading
360 ppm eUs30s)'4. The Onslow South Project is also located 20km NNE of Paladin Energy Ltd’s Manyingee
uranium deposit, which contains an indicated mineral resource of 15.7Mlb U30s grading 850ppm and an inferred
mineral resource of 10.2MIb grading 850ppm at a cut-off grade of 250ppm U30s™®. The Project sits only 1.5km
from a Minedex reported uranium occurrence of 0.5m in a 1980 drill hole at 174m depth grading 550ppm U30s?®.

For personal use only

14 Cauldron Energy Limited (ASX:CXU) ASX announcement 13 December 2023: Bennet Well Scoping Study Confirms Potential for a Low
Cost ISR Uranium Operation

15 paladin Energy Ltd (ASX: PDM) Annual Report 2023

16 Geological Survey of Western Australia’s MINEDEX Database (50022197)

12
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Competent Persons’ Statements

The exploration results in this announcement were reported by the Company in accordance with
listing rule 5.7. The Company confirms it is not aware of any new information or data that materially
affects the information included in the previous announcements.

The Information in this report that relates to the exploration target at Northern Zone Project is based
on information compiled by Mr Allan Younger, who is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining
and Metallurgy. Mr Younger is a consultant to the company. Mr Younger has sufficient experience
which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposits under consideration and to the
activity that he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 edition of the
‘Australian Code for Reporting Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’ (the JORC
Code). Mr Younger consents to the inclusion of this information in the form and context in which it
appears in this report. There have been no material changes to the underlying information or
assumptions since the exploration target was reported to the ASX on 9 May 2023.

Corporate Governance

Riversgold Ltd’s Corporate Governance Statement for FY2025 is available on the Company’s website:

https://www.riversgold.com.au/corporate/corporate-governance/

13
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ASX Additional Information

Shareholder Information

The following information is based on share registry information processed up to 30 October 2025.
Distribution of Fully Paid Ordinary Shares and Quoted Options

Number of Holders | Number of Shares = Number of Holders Number of Shares

Spread of Holders

{c] {c] {c]Ke} RGLO
1-1,000 59 8,155 0 0
1,001 - 5,000 41 187,415 1 2,143
5,001 -10,000 209 1,798,150 1 8,879
10,001 - 100,000 1,288 58,969,566 4 276,289
100,001 and over 1,453 2,022,749,307 87 352,212,689
Total 3,060 2,083,712,593 93 352,500,000

Based on a price of $0.007 per ordinary share, the number of holders with an unmarketable shareholding is
1,331 with a total of 35,935,050 ordinary shares amounting to 1.72% of issued capital. There is no current on-
market buy back taking place and no restricted securities.

Twenty Largest Holders of Quoted Shares (ungrouped)

Number
Shareholder Held %

1 Mr Robert Andrew Jewson 72,354,782 3.47
2 Mr Kenneth Joseph Hall <Hall Park A/C> 64,000,000 3.07
3 Clariden Capital Limited 60,000,000 2.88
4 Logic Nominees Limited 44,000,000 2.11
5 Doraleda Pty Ltd 39,000,000 1.87
6 Mr Stephen John Dobson 38,888,889 1.87
7 | Dudsville Pty Ltd <Sheppeard Family A/C> 33,333,333 1.60
8 Konkera Pty Ltd <Konkera Family A/C> 32,112,650 1.54
9 Netwealth Investments Limited <Wrap Services A/C> 31,892,224 1.53
10 | BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd <IB Au Noms Retailclient> 26,014,512 1.25
11 | Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 23,126,650 1.11
12 | Tusk Nominees Pty Ltd <Sheppeard Family S/F A/C> 22,222,222 1.07
13 | Mr Sherman Alvo Francis Picardo 22,000,000 1.06
14 | Mr John Campbell Smyth & Dr Ann Novello Hogarth <Smyth Super A/C> 20,000,000 | 0.96
15 | Payzone Pty Ltd <St Barnabas Super A/C> 20,000,000 0.96
16 | BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd 19,794,277 0.95
17 | Eaglehawk Investments Pty Ltd 19,190,507 0.92
18 | Citymist Holdings Pty Ltd 16,875,000 0.81
19 | Evolution Mining Limited 15,700,000 0.75
20 | Westend Capital Pty Ltd <Hawkstone A/C> 15,000,000 0.72
Total 635,505,046 | 30.50

14
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Twenty Largest Holders of Quoted Options (ungrouped)

Number
Shareholder Held %
1 Mr Mark Trent <No 2 A/C> 50,000,000 | 14.18
2 | African Resource Consulting Pty Ltd 23,180,412 6.58
3 Mr Sherman Alvo Francis Picardo 13,000,000 3.69
4 Ironside Capital Pty Ltd 13,000,000 3.69
5 Doraleda Pty Ltd 12,500,000 3.55
6 Mr David Lenigas 12,500,000 3.55
7 Auraria Group Pty Ltd 12,500,000 3.55
8 Clariden Capital Limited 10,000,000 2.84
9 | Ms Lisa Carole Weyell & Mr Clayton Paul Bingham <CP Bingham Family A/C> 10,000,000 2.84
10 | Netwealth Investments Limited <Wrap Services A/C> 9,050,000 2.57
11 | Prof Jeremy David Ruben & Mrs Vanessa Ruben <JVR A/F A/C> 7,500,000 2.13
12 | Malone Corporate Services Pty Ltd 6,250,000 1.77
13 | Goldfire Enterprises Pty Ltd 6,250,000 1.77
14 | Loktor Holdings Pty Ltd <Taybird A/C> 5,750,000 1.63
15 | Mr Nektarios Georgiou & Mrs Georgia Georgiou 5,500,000 1.56
16 | Annbrook Capital Pty Ltd 5,000,000 1.42
17 | Mr Georgio Tannous 5,000,000 1.42
18 | Nam Investment Company Pty Ltd <The Noelyn Super Fund A/C> 5,000,000 1.42
19 | Mr Alexander Daniel Del Moro 5,000,000 1.42
20 | Finclear Services Nominees Pty Limited <Accum A/C> 5,000,000 1.42
Total 221,980,412 | 63.00

Voting Rights - Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

Every shareholder present in person or by proxy, attorney or representative has one vote on a show of hands,
and on a poll, one vote for each fully paid share.

Substantial Holders

The Company notes that there are currently no shareholders holding 5% or more of the Company’s shares.

Unquoted Equity Securities

Number of
Class Quantity Holders
Options exercisable at $0.054 each on or before 22 December 2025 10,000,000 1
Options exercisable at $0.01 each on or before 12 July 2027 134,000,000 7
Options exercisable at $0.008 each on or before 23 December 2027 9,375,000 3
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Holders of Unquoted Securities Holding More than 20% of Each Class

Class ‘ Holder Quantity
Options exercisable at $0.054 each on or before 22 CG Nominees (Australia) Pty Ltd 10,000,000
December 2025

Options exercisable at $0.01 each on or before 12 July | Mr David Lenigas 40,000,000
2027

Options exercisable at $0.008 each on or before 23 Bridge the Gap Trading Pty Ltd 5,416,667
December 2027 First Arrow Investments Pty Ltd 2,708,333

Schedule of Mining Tenements and Interests as at 31 October 2025

Identifier Status ‘ Project Name % Beneficial Ownership
> E45/5721 Live Tambourah 100%
f— E45/6363 Live Wodgina East 100%
C E45/6115 Live Tambourah South 100%
O E45/6213 Live Forrest 100%
q) P45/3153 Live Tambourah 100%
m P25/2651 Live Northern Zone 80%
3 P25/2540 Live Northern Zone 100%
P25/2848 Pending Northern Zone 100%
C_G L26/319 Pending Northern Zone 100%
L25/69 Pending Northern Zone 100%
C E08/3682 Pending Onslow South: Ashburton 100%
O 11488 Live Hideaway Lake, New Brunswick 0% - option to acquire 100%"
e 11489 Live Spruce Lake, New Brunswick 0% - option to acquire 100%"
GJ 10729 Live Little Lepreau, New Brunswick 0% - option to acquire 100%"
Q 9106 Live Musquash, New Brunswick 0% - option to acquire 100%"
10655 Live Prince of Wales, New Brunswick 0% - option to acquire 100%"
S # These tenements are the subject of a farm-out agreement with A.l.S. Resources Limited (AIS) as set out in the
O announcement dated 15 September 2025 whereby AIS can earn up to 75%.
LL




Financial Statements
FY2025

As released to the ASX on 30 September 2025
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RIVERSGOLDumo
ABN 64 617 614 598

Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report on Riversgold Ltd (the Company) and the entities it controlled (the Group)
for the year ended 30 June 2025.

Directors

The names of Directors who held office during the year and until the date of this report are as follows.
Directors were in office for this entire period.

David Lenigas B Science (Chemistry) Hons
Executive Chairman — Appointed 10 March 2022

Mr Lenigas is a qualified mining engineer with a Western Australian First Class Mine Managers Certificate. He
has extensive corporate experience at chairman and chief executive officer level on many of the world’s
leading stock exchanges overseeing multiple business sectors. He has specific knowledge of the lithium
industry having been an early influential funder and shareholder in corporate entities of both the Cinovec
Lithium Project in the Czech Republic and the Sonora Lithium Project in Mexico, where he served as a director
of Bacanora Minerals in its formative growth years and was key in negotiating a lithium supply contract with
a major US electric car manufacturer.

Other Listed Company Directorships:  Odessa Minerals Limited (to 14 April 2025)
Rincon Resources Limited (from 13 September 2022)

Simon Andrew B Science (Chemistry) Hons
Non-executive Director — Appointed 28 August 2019 (former Chair until 10 March 2022)

Mr Andrew has over 20 years’ experience in financial markets in Asia and Australia. Previously he has held
senior management positions at various global investment banks. These roles included leading the equity
sales desk for BNP Paribas for the ASEAN region and heading the Refining and Petrochemicals sector research
team at Deutsche Bank in Asia.

He was responsible for securing the financing for the purchase of the Tennant Creek assets for Emmerson
Resources (ASX:ERM) and arranging the IPO in 2007.

Other Listed Company Directorships:  Mamba Exploration Limited (from 23 September 2020)
Recharge Metals Ltd (from 5 February 2021)
Olympio Metals Limited (from 2 August 2021)

Edward (Ed) Mead BSC: FAIMM
Non-executive Director — Appointed 21 November 2022

Mr Mead is a geologist with 30 years’ experience in gold and base metals exploration, mine development and
mine production. Ed has also worked in the oil and gas industry on offshore drilling platforms. Other
commodities that he has significant experience with and can be considered to be a competent person in are
iron ore, magnetite, coal, manganese, lithium, potash and uranium.

Other Listed Company Directorships: ~ White Cliff Minerals Limited (to 23 April 2024)
Artemis Resources Limited (to 21 November 2022)
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Oonagh Malone
Company Secretary — Appointed 4 January 2021

Ms Malone is a principal of a corporate advisory firm which provides company secretarial and administrative
services. She has over 15 years’ experience in administrative and company secretarial roles for listed
companies and is a member of the Governance Institute of Australia. She currently acts as company secretary
for ASX-listed African Gold Ltd, Benz Mining Corp, Caprice Resources Limited, Carbine Resources Limited,
Firebird Metals Limited and RareX Limited. She is a non-executive director of Lion Rock Minerals Limited.

Directors’ Interests

As at the date of this report the current Directors’ interests in shares and unlisted options of the Company are
as follows:

Director Directors’ Interests in Directors’ Interests in Options vested at the
R — Qrdlndivishiaies _____Unlisted Options ____reportingdate

D Lenigas 18,500,000 52,500,000 52,500,000
S Andrew 18,352,940 22,500,000 22,500,000
E Mead 39,000,000 32,500,000 32,500,000

Directors’ Meetings

The number of meetings of the Company’s Directors held during the year ended 30 June 2025, and the number
of meetings attended by each Director are as follows:

Director Board of Directors’ Meetings
Eligible to Attend Attended

D Lenigas 6 6

S Andrew 6 6

E Mead 6 6

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Group during the financial year consisted of mineral exploration in respect of its
mineral exploration projects in Australia and Canada.

Results of Operations

The consolidated loss after income tax for the financial year was $510,854 (2024: $6,094,093).
Review of Operations

During the year, the Group:

e Progressed the Northern Zone Gold Project, Kalgoorlie, Western Australia with granted tenement
P25/2651:

e Received assay results for a diamond drilling program at the Northern Zone Project, with assay results
interpreted, structural logging completed, metallurgical testwork completed, a high resolution drone
magnetic survey undertaken, and gold mineralisation models developed, in preparation for an
updated structural and geological model to inform the maiden Mineral Resource Estimate (MRE);

e Submitted Mining Lease application M25/389 with this application progressing along with a
miscellaneous license application to enable road access; and

e Had a program of works approved for 200 further drill holes.

e Completed a site visit at the Saint John antimony, gold, copper and silver project in New Brunswick
(Canada) with outcrop samples collected, assay results received, petraphysics results received, a drilling
program approved and broader drone and ground IP/resistivity surveys planned.
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Completed a site visit, with rock chip samples taken and copper and gold assay results received, to enable
update of regional geological modelling and planning for future drilling at the Tambourah Project located
in the Pilbara, Western Australia, with granted tenements E45/5721, E45/6115, E45/6213 and P45/3153.

Completed a site visit and reconnaissance exploration program at the Wodgina East Project located in the
Pilbara, Western Australia with granted tenement E45/6363.

Disposed of remaining tenements at the Kurnalpi project in Western Australia, with final tenement
E28/3034 transferred in July 2025.

Acquired an option to acquire 100% of the Saint John antimony, gold, copper and silver project in New
Brunswick (Canada). Site visits, geological assays and a high-resolution drone magnetic survey have been
undertaken with assay results received and future drilling programs approved. Consideration payable
with respect to the Saint John project is:

e $65,290 (SCAD60,000) paid on 9 October 2024 for the initial option;

e  Fourannual payments commencing on the first anniversary of the execution of the option agreement
for execution of the option, with each payment to comprise SCAD25,000 in cash and SCAD35,000 in
cash or (at Riversgold’s choice) Riversgold shares calculated at the 10-day VWAP to the anniversary
date, with Riversgold able to accelerate these option payments for earlier option exercise; and

e A 2% Gross Smelter Royalty (GSR) payable following exercise of the option, with 1% of this GSR
acquirable by Riversgold for SCAD1,000,000, and then Riversgold having first right of refusal for any
purchase of the remaining 1% GSR.

Paid a facilitation fee to unrelated party Arcadia Corporate Pty Ltd, in consideration for services relating
to the Saint John transaction, consisting of:

e $75,000 in cash and $75,000 in shares, being 18,750,000 shares issued on 23 December 2024 at an
agreed value of $0.004 per share; and

e 9,375,000 share options issued on 23 December 2024 with an exercise price of $0.008 and expiring
23 December 2027.

Following shareholder approval on 12 July 2024, issued:

e 94,448,273 shares at a price of $0.0055 per share to raise $519,466 before costs in the second
tranche of the placement remaining from the year ended 30 June 2024; and

e 40,000,000 share options to Director David Lenigas, 20,000,000 share options to Director Simon
Andrew, 20,000,000 share options to Director Ed Mead, 12,000,000 share options to unrelated
advisor 708 Capital Pty Ltd and 12,000,000 share options to unrelated advisor Yelverton Capital Pty
Ltd, for a total of 104,000,000 options issued, with these options all having an exercise price of $0.01
and expiring 12 July 2027.

Issued 30,000,000 share options to non-directors, including 20,000,000 share options issued to Company
Secretary Oonagh Malone, with these options having an exercise price of $0.01 and expiring 12 July 2027.

Issued 23,437,500 deferred consideration shares at a calculated price of $0.0064 for the acquisition of
tenement application E47/5069, with $150,000 recognised for this in the year ended 30 June 2024.

Issued 300,000,000 shares at a price of $0.004 to raise $1,200,000 before costs.
Following shareholder approval on 28 November 2024, issued:

e 37,500,000 shares at a price of $0.004 to raise $150,000 in director and officer placements; and

e 337,500,000 free attaching options for the share placements, including 37,500,000 for related
parties, and 15,000,000 options in consideration for capital raising services, with these options all
having an exercise price of $0.01 and expiring 20 December 2027.




For personal use only

L

RIVERSGOLDumo
ABN 64 617 614 598

Directors’ Report

Risk Management

The Group takes a proactive approach to risk management. The Board is responsible for ensuring that risks,
including emerging risks, and also opportunities, are identified on a timely basis and the Group’s objectives
and activities are aligned with the risks and opportunities identified by the Board.

The Board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure that management’s objectives and activities are
aligned with the risks identified by the Board. The Group manages the material business risks identified below
and other day-to-day risks through a number of risk controls and mitigants. Specific risk controls and mitigants
include but are not limited to:

Board risk oversight;

implementation and adoption of Group policies and standards;

insuring business activities and operations in accordance with industry practice; and
engaging appropriate finance, accounting, and legal advisors.

The Group has identified various material business risks it considers could impede the achievement of future
operational performance and financial success, as set out below. Such risks are not intended to constitute an
exhaustive list of all risks applicable to the Group.

a)

b)

d)

Exploration and development risks: mineral exploration and development are high-risk
undertakings. While the Group is progressing a systematic exploration programs, there can be no
assurance that exploration of current or future projects acquired will result in the discovery and
development of an economic or exploitable resource.

Operating risk: the operations of the Group may be affected by various operational factors, including
failure to locate or identify mineral deposits, failure to achieve predicted grades in exploration and
mining, plant and equipment issues or breakdowns, unanticipated metallurgical problems, adverse
weather conditions, industrial and environmental accidents, industrial disputes and availabilities and
increased costs, which are largely outside the control of the Group and may adversely impact the
Group’s operations and performance.

Access: access arrangements need to be negotiated in order for the Group to undertake further
exploration on all of its projects. The Group may be unable to secure such arrangements on
reasonable terms or at all given third parties are involved, which may impact the Group’s ability to
explore such areas.

Title risk: the Group’s tenement portfolio is governed by various legislation, which requires annual
expenditure and/or reporting commitments, as well as other conditions requiring compliance. In
order to mitigate such risks, the Group designs exploration programs that will meet minimum
expenditure requirements and advance the development of the tenements in a timely manner.

Commodity price volatility: the Group's ability to proceed with the development of its projects and
benefit from any future mining operations will depend on market factors, some of which are beyond
its control. It is anticipated that any revenues derived from mining will primarily be derived from the
sale of nickel and gold. Consequently, any future earnings are likely to be closely related to the price
of these commodities and the terms of any off-take agreements that the Group enters into. The
markets for gold and nickel are subject to many variables and may fluctuate markedly, which may
adversely affect the Group’s activities and financial performance.

Native title and heritage risks: the Group’s current or future projects may be over areas which
legitimate common law native title rights exist. If native title rights do exist, the ability of the Group
to gain access to its tenements or to progress from the exploration phase to the development and
mining phases of operations may be adversely affected. The Group appoints legal and other advisers
to assist it conduct its activities in a manner which minimises such risks, although some risks are
outside of the Group’s control.
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Environmental risks: the operations and proposed activities of the Group are subject to laws and
regulations concerning the environment. As with most exploration projects and mining operations,
the Group 's activities are expected to have an impact on the environment, particularly if advanced
exploration or field development proceeds. It is the Group 's intention to conduct its activities to the
highest standard of environmental obligation, including compliance with all environmental laws.

Permits and approvals: certain mineral rights and interests held by the Group are subject to the need
for ongoing or new government approvals and permits. These requirements, including work permits
and environmental approvals, will change as the Group’s activities develop. Delays in obtaining, or
the inability to obtain, required authorisations, which are largely outside the Group’s control, may
significantly impact on the Group's operations.

Financial Position

At the end of the financial year the Group had $223,647 (2024: $775,547) in cash and at call deposits with net
assets of $49,692 (30 June 2024: $656,878).

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs

Other than referred to in this report, there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the
Company during the year.

Options over Unissued Capital

During the financial year, the Company had the following share option issues:

A total of 134,000,000 share options with an exercise price of $0.01 and expiry date of 12 July 2027
were issued on 12 July 2024. These included 40,000,000 options for Director David Lenigas,
20,000,000 options for Director Simon Andrew, 20,000,000 options for Director Ed Mead, 12,000,000
share options to unrelated advisor 708 Capital Pty Ltd, 12,000,000 share options to unrelated advisor
Yelverton Capital Pty Ltd, 20,000,000 options for Company Secretary Oonagh Malone and 10,000,000
other options.

9,375,000 share options were issued on 23 December 2024 with an exercise price of $0.008 and
expiring 23 December 2027 to unrelated party Arcadia Corporate Pty Ltd in consideration for services
relating to the St John Project acquisition.

15,000,000 share options were issued on 20 December 2024 with an exercise price of $0.01 and
expiring 20 December 2027 in consideration for capital raising services.

337,500,000 share options were issued on 20 December 2024 with an exercise price of $0.01 and
expiring 20 December 2027, as free attaching options for the share placements. These included
12,500,000 for Director David Lenigas, 2,500,000 for Director Simon Andrew, 12,500,000 for Director
Ed Mead and 10,000,000 for Company secretary Oonagh Malone.
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As at the balance date, 516,675,000 unissued ordinary shares are under option as follows:

Issue date Number Exercise price Expiry date
28 November 2022* 2,000,000 5.0 cents 9 August 2025
9 August 2022* 6,800,000 5.0 cents 9 August 2025
7 December 2023* 2,000,000 5.0 cents 9 August 2025
18 November 2022 10,000,000 5.4 cents 22 December 2025
12 July 2024 134,000,000 1.0 cents 12 July 2027
23 December 2024 9,375,000 0.8 cents 23 December 2027
20 December 2024 15,000,000 1.0 cents 20 December 2027
20 December 2024 337,500,000 1.0 cents 20 December 2027
Total 516,675,000

* These 10,800,000 options ceased after year end on 9 August 2025 due to expiry without exercise or
conversion, leaving a total of 525,875,000 options on issue at the date of this report.

All options have vested at the balance date. No share options were exercised during the year.

During the year, the following options ceased due to lapsing on expiry without exercise or conversion.

Expiry date and cessation

Date Granted or Issued Exercise price
date
7 July 2021 2,000,000 4.8 cents 7 July 2024
7 July 2021 2,000,000 5.5 cents 7 July 2024
7 July 2021 2,000,000 7.4 cents 7 July 2024
10 March 2022 20,000,000 5.0 cents 30 May 2025
Total 26,000,000

Issued Capital

Number of Shares on Issue

2025 2024
Ordinary fully paid shares 1,683,712,593 1,209,576,820

During the financial year the Company issued 474,135,773 shares as per below:

No of Shares

Shares issued under share placement 0.55 94,448,273
Shares issued for $150,000 of deferred consideration for tenement acquisition 0.64 23,437,500
recognised in prior year as a share-based payment

Shares issued under share placement 0.4 300,000,000
Shares issued under share placement for directors and key management 0.4 37,500,000
personnel

Shares issued in part consideration for St John Project facilitation 0.4 18,750,000

There are no unpaid amounts on the shares issued.
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Performance Rights
Quarterback Performance Rights

Shareholders granted approval on 6 August 2020 for the issue of 50,000,000 performance rights to
Quarterback Geological Consultants Pty Ltd (“Quarterback”) as consideration for geological strategy and
consultancy services to be provided at the Kurnalpi Project in Western Australia. The Quarterback
Performance Rights were to convert into shares on a one for one basis on achievement of the following
milestones, or lapse if performance milestones were not met within 5 years of the commencement date.
These performance rights ceased on 13 August 2025 following the disposal of most of the remaining Kurnalpi
Project in May 2025 and the end of the potential vesting period on 17 June 2025.This cessation without vesting
has been reflected in the financial report with a net gain of $2,403,050 recognised on the reversal of amounts
recognised in prior years for these performance rights.

Performance | Performance Milestone

Rights
Award

Class A 25,000,000 The Company makes an announcement, resulting from Quarterback’s
performance of the identifying Services, of a JORC inferred resource of
250koz of gold or gold equivalent, in relation to a Qualifying Project, on the
ASX announcements platform on or before the Expiry Date

Class B 25,000,000 The Company makes an announcement, resulting from Quarterback’s
performance of the identifying Services, of a JORC inferred resource of
500koz of gold or gold equivalent, in relation to a Qualifying Project, on the
ASX announcements platform on or before the Expiry Date

Dividends

No dividend has been paid since the end of the previous financial year and no dividend is recommended for
the current year.

Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year

On 9 August 2025, 10,800,000 share options with an exercise price of $0.05 per share and an expiry date of 9
August 2025 ceased on expiry without exercise or conversion. This included 2,000,000 options held by a
related party of Director Simon Andrew and 2,000,000 options held by Director Ed Mead.

On 13 August 2025, 50,000,000 performance rights ceased following expiry without vesting, exercise or
conversion.

On 15 September 2025 the Company announced the farm-out of the St John Project comprising all Canadian
tenements to Canadian listed A.l.S. Resources Limited (AIS) with:
e 2,860,000 AIS shares at an agreed value of SCADO0.05 per share to be issued to the Company on
signing;
e Required exploration expenditure by AlS of SCAD400,000 in the first year and required exploration
expenditure by AlS of SCAD1,000,000 in the second year for AIS to earn 51% interest in the project;
e Required exploration expenditure by AIS of SCAD3,00,000 over the third and fourth year for AIS to
earn 75% interest in the project; and
e The Company retaining a 25% interest through to decision to mine.

10
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Director David Lenigas advanced funds totalling $80,284 and Company Secretary Oonagh Malone advanced
funds totalling $10,000 between 1 August 2025 and 26 September 2025, with these advances on interest free
unsecured terms.

On 30 September 2025, the Company announced:

e The signing of a Right to Mine and Co-Operation Agreement with MEGA Resources Pty Ltd (MEGA)
for project funding, mining and haulage at the Northern Zone Gold Project with granted tenement
P25/2651. This agreement is contingent on the conversion of tenement P25/2651 into mining license
M25/389 and all necessary third-party approvals. Following the commencement of commercial
production in the mining area on a cash-flow positive basis and funds being retained for
rehabilitation, exploration and grade control requirements, the Company will receive 40% of the net
cashflow from this project, with Oracle Gold Pty Ltd (current holder of a 20% interest in the Project)
to receive 10% of the net cashflow and Bain Global Resources Pty Ltd (the financier of MEGA) to
receive 50% of the net cashflow.

e The receipt of firm commitments for a share placement to raise $1,800,000 from the issue of
400,000,000 shares at $0.0045 per share to unrelated parties, with shares expected to be issued on
6 October 2025, unless all funds are received before then.

e The proposed issues, subject to shareholder approval, of a total of 80,000,000 4-year share options
with an exercise price of $0.012 and 80,000,000 4-year share options with an exercise price of $0.015
to Directors David Lenigas, Simon Andrew and Ed Mead, and Company Secretary Oonagh Malone,
with each of these to receive 20,000,000 of each tranche of these options.

Other than stated above there has not arisen between the end of the financial year and the date of this report
any item of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company to affect
substantially the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group
in subsequent financial years.

Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations

The Company expects to continue its exploration programs at the projects in Western Australia.

Disclosure of any further information has not been included in this report because, in the reasonable opinion
of the Directors to do so would be likely to prejudice the business activities of the Group and is dependent
upon the results of the future exploration and evaluation.

Environmental Regulation and Performance

The Group holds various exploration licences and permits to regulate its exploration activities. These licences
include conditions and regulations with respect to the rehabilitation of areas disturbed during the course of
its exploration activities.

As far as the Directors are aware, all exploration activities have been undertaken in compliance with all
relevant environmental regulations.

11
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Remuneration Report (Audited)

Remuneration paid to Directors and Officers of the Company is set by reference to such payments made by
other ASX listed companies of a similar size and operating in the mineral exploration industry. In addition,
reference is made to the specific skills and experience of the Directors and Officers.

Details of the nature and amount of remuneration of each Director, and other Key Management Personnel if
applicable, are disclosed annually in the Company’s Annual Report.

Remuneration Committee

The Board has adopted a formal Remuneration Committee Charter which provides a framework for the
consideration of remuneration matters.

The Company does not have a separate remuneration committee and as such all remuneration matters are
considered by the Board as a whole, with no member deliberating or considering such matter in respect of
their own remuneration.

In the absence of a separate Remuneration Committee, the Board is responsible for:

1. Setting remuneration packages for Executive Directors, Non-executive Directors and other Key
Management Personnel; and

2. Implementing employee incentive and equity based plans and making awards pursuant to those plans.

Non-executive Remuneration

The Company’s policy is to remunerate Non-executive Directors, at rates comparable to other ASX listed
companies in the same industry, for their time, commitment and responsibilities.

Non-executive Remuneration is not linked to the performance of the Company, however to align Directors’
interests with shareholders’ interests, remuneration may be provided to Non-executive Directors in the form
of equity based long term incentives.

1. Fees payable to Non-executive Directors are set within the aggregate amount approved by shareholders
at the Company’s Annual General Meeting;

2. Non-executive Directors’ fees are payable in the form of cash and superannuation benefits;
3.  Non-executive superannuation benefits are limited to statutory superannuation entitlements; and

4.  Participation in equity-based remuneration schemes by Non-executive Directors is subject to
consideration and approval by the Company’s shareholders.

The maximum Non-executive Directors fees, payable in aggregate are currently set at $200,000 per annum.

Executive Director and Other Key Management Personnel Remuneration

Executive remuneration consists of base salary, plus other performance incentives to ensure that:

1. Remuneration packages incorporate a balance between fixed and incentive pay, reflecting short and long
term performance objectives appropriate to the Company’s circumstances and objectives; and

2. A proportion of remuneration is structured in a manner to link reward to corporate and individual
performances.

Executives are offered a competitive level of base salary at market rates (based on comparable ASX listed
companies) and are reviewed regularly to ensure market competitiveness. To date the Company has not
engaged external remuneration consultants to advise the Board on remuneration matters.

Incentive Plans

The Company provides long term incentives to Directors and Employees pursuant to the Employee Securities
Incentive Plan, which was last approved by shareholders on 28 November 2022.

12
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Remuneration Report (continued)

The Board, acting in remuneration matters:

1.

Ensures that incentive plans are designed around appropriate and realistic performance targets and

provide rewards when those targets are achieved;

2. Reviews and approves existing incentive plans established for employees; and

3.  Approves the administration of the incentive plans, including receiving recommendations for, and the
consideration and approval of grants pursuant to such incentive plans.

Engagement of Non-executive Directors

Non-executive Directors conduct their duties under the following terms:

1. A Non-executive Director may resign from his/her position and thus terminate their contract on written
notice to the Company; and

2. A Non-executive Director may, following resolution of the Company’s shareholders, be removed before
the expiration of their period of office (if applicable). Payment is made in lieu of any notice period if
termination is initiated by the Company, except where termination is initiated for serious misconduct.

In consideration of the services provided by Mr Simon Andrew and Mr Ed Mead as Non-Executive Directors,
they are each paid fees of $60,000 per annum.

Non-executive Directors are also entitled to fees for other amounts as the Board determines where they
perform special duties or otherwise perform extra services or make special exertions on behalf of the
Company.

Engagement of Executive Directors

The Company entered into an agreement to David Lenigas as Executive Chairman on 10 March 2022 with the
following material terms and conditions:

Appointment commencing on 10 March 2022.

Immediate cessation of appointment on resignation or in accordance with the constitution, with no
termination period specified.

A fee of $120,000 per annum inclusive of any compulsory superannuation, subject to annual review
by the board.

20,000,000 share options with an exercise price of $0.05 and expiring three years from the issue date,
subject to approval by shareholders at a general meeting in April 2022, with an alternative
remuneration package of equivalent value negotiated in good faith if the shareholders did not
approve these options. These options were valued for financial accounting purposes at 10 March
2022, not the shareholder approval date, because of the enforceable potential alternative
remuneration.

Following review by the board, Mr Lenigas’ annual fee increased to $200,000 per annum, effective from 18
November 2022.

13
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Remuneration Report (Continued)
Short Term Incentive Payments

Each year, the Non-executive Directors set the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for any Executives. The KPls
are chosen to align the reward of the individual Executives to the strategy and performance of the Company.

Performance objectives, which may be financial or non-financial, or a combination of both, are weighted when
calculating the maximum short-term incentives payable to Executives. At the end of the year, the Non-
executive Directors will assess the actual performance of the Executives against the set Performance
Objectives. The maximum amount of the short-term incentive, or a lesser amount depending on actual
performance achieved is paid to the Executives as a cash payment.

No short-term incentives are payable to Executives where it is considered that the actual performance has
fallen below the minimum requirement.

Shareholding Qualifications
The Directors are not required to hold any shares in Riversgold under the terms of the Company’s constitution.

Group Performance

In considering the Company’s performance, the Board will provide the following indices in respect of the
current financial year and the 4 previous financial periods. The 2023 and 2024 Loss and basic loss per share
have been restated following the change in accounting policy described in note 3 of the financial report.

2025 2024 2023 2022
(Restated) (Restated)
Loss for the period attributable to $510,854 | $6,094,093 | $3,504,735 | $10,198,982 | $1,634,151
shareholders
Closing share price at 30 June 0.4 cents 0.6 cents 1.5 cents 2.6 cents 3.5 cents
Basic loss per share (cents) 0.033 0.62 0.40 2.12 0.40

14
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Remuneration Report (Continued)

As an exploration entity the Board does not consider the profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders as one of
the performance indicators when implementing Short Term Incentive Payments.

In addition to technical exploration success, the Board considers the effective management of safety,
environmental and operational matters and successful management and acquisition and consolidation of
high-quality landholdings, as more appropriate indicators of management performance for respective
financial years.

Remuneration Disclosures

During the financial year, the Key Management Personnel of the Company have been identified as:

Mr David Lenigas Executive Chairman (Appointed 10 March 2022)

Mr Simon Andrew Non-executive Director (Appointed 28 August 2019)

Mr Edward (Ed) Mead  Non-executive Director (Appointed 21 November 2022)
Ms Oonagh Malone Company Secretary (Appointed 4 January 2021)

When a resolution that the remuneration report for the last financial year be adopted was put to the vote at
the Company’s most recent AGM, less than 25% of the votes cast were against the adoption of that report.

The details of the remuneration of each Director and member of Key Management Personnel of the Company
is as follows:

Short Post-
Term Employment Other Long
Benefits Benefits Term Benefits
30 June 2025
Base | Superannuation Probortion
Salary | Contributions Share Options? .

Performance
S S Related %
David Lenigas 200,000 - 146,640 346,640 42
Simon Andrew 60,000 - 73,320 133,320 55
Ed Mead 189,701 - 73,320 263,021 28
Oonagh Malone 90,000 - 73,320 163,320 45
Total 539,701 - 366,600 906,301 40

Yincludes consultancy fees amounting to $129,701.

2 The fair value of Options issued as remuneration is calculated using a Black-Scholes Option Pricing model
with the fair value allocated to each reporting period to vesting date. Remuneration with share options is
considered performance related.
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Remuneration Report (Continued)

Short Post-
Term Employment Other Long
Benefits Benefits Term Benefits
30 June 2024
Base | Superannuation Proportion
Salary | Contributions Share Options? P

Performance
S Related %
David Lenigas 200,000 - - 200,000 -
Simon Andrew 60,000 - - 60,000 -
Ed Mead 90,125 - - 90,125 -
Julian Ford 143,8283 15,865 - 159,693 -
Oonagh Malone 90,000 - - 90,000 -
Total 583,953 15,865 - 599,818 -

YIncludes consultancy fees amounting to $30,125.

2 The fair value of Options issued as remuneration is calculated using a Black-Scholes Option Pricing model
with the fair value allocated to each reporting period to vesting date. Remuneration with share options is
considered performance related.

3Includes an annual leave provision decrease of ($18,991).

Share and Options Granted as Remuneration

The following 100,000,000 Options were issued and granted to Key Management Personnel on 12 July 2024
following approval by shareholders on 12 July 2024. These options vested immediately.

Recipient Exercise Expiry date Value per

Price Option
40,000,000 | David Lenigas $0.01 12 July 2027 $0.003666
20,000,000 | Simon Andrew $0.01 12 July 2027 $0.003666
20,000,000 | Ed Mead $0.01 12 July 2027 $0.003666
20,000,000 Oonagh Malone $0.01 12 July 2027 $0.003666

Exercise of Options Granted as Remuneration

During the year, no shares were issued on exercise of options that were previously granted as remuneration
to Directors or Key Management Personnel of the Company. 20,000,000 options with an exercise price of
$0.05 per option, that were held by David Lenigas, lapsed on expiry without exercise or conversion on 30 May
2025.
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Remuneration Report (Continued)

Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel

Option holdings

Key Management Personnel (KMP) have the following interests in unlisted options over unissued shares of
the Company.

Balance at Received during Vested and
Other changes  Balance at the .

start of the the year as during the vear end of the vear exercisable at
year remuneration & 4 y 30.06.2025

KMP
David Lenigas 20,000,000 40,000,000 (7,500,000)" 52,500,000 52,500,000
Simon Andrew 2,000,000 20,000,000 2,500,000 24,500,000 24,500,000
Ed Mead 2,000,000 20,000,000 12,500,000 34,500,000 34,500,000
Oonagh Malone 2,000,000 20,000,000 6,250,000 28,250,000 28,250,000

(i)  Mr Lenigas was issued 12,500,000 free attaching options with a share placement but had 20,000,000 share options lapse on
expiry without being exercised.
(i) These share options were issued as free attaching options to a share placement.

Shareholdings

The number of shares in the Company held during the financial period by key management personnel of the
Company, including their related parties are set out below. There were no shares granted during the reporting
period as compensation.

Balance at start

Received during year

Other changes

Balance at the end

of the year as remuneration during the year of the year
KmMP
David Lenigas 6,000,000 - 12,500,000 18,500,000
Simon Andrew 15,852,940 - 2,500,000 18,352,940
Ed Mead - - 39,000,000 39,000,000
Oonagh Malone 1,581,756 - 6,250,000 7,831,756

Loans made to or from key management personnel

No loans were made to or from key management personnel, including personally related entities during the
year. Director David Lenigas advanced funds totalling $80,284 and Company Secretary Oonagh Malone
advanced funds totalling $10,000 between 1 August 2025 and 25 September 2025, with these advances on
interest free unsecured terms.

Other transactions with key management personnel

Fees of $44,792 (exclusive of GST) were owed to Directors at 30 June 2025 for $16,667 of David Lenigas’
director fees, $10,000 for Ed Mead’s director fees, and $18,125 for Ed Mead’s geological consulting fees. (30
June 2024: 519,058 owed to Director Ed Mead for $5,000 of director fees, $9,250 of geological consulting fees
and $4,808 for expenditure reimbursements).

There are no other related party transactions, other than those already disclosed elsewhere in this financial

report.

End of Remuneration Report
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Officers’ Indemnities and Insurance

During the year the Company paid an insurance premium to insure certain officers of the Company. The
officers of the Company covered by the insurance policy include the Directors named in this report.

The Directors and Officers Liability insurance provides cover against all costs and expenses that may be
incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that fall within the scope of the indemnity and that may be
brought against the officers in their capacity as officers of the Company. The insurance policy does not contain
details of the premium paid in respect of individual officers of the Company. Disclosure of the nature of the
liability cover and the amount of the premium is subject to a confidentiality clause under the insurance policy.

The Company has not provided any insurance for an auditor of the Company.

Proceedings on behalf of the Company

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring
proceedings on behalf of the Company or Group, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company or
Group is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those
proceedings.

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company or Group with leave of the
Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001.

Non-audit Services

During the financial year HLB Mann Judd, the Company’s auditor, has not performed any other services in
addition to their statutory duties.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act
2001 is set out on the following page.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Dated at Perth this 30th day of September 2025.

David Lenigas
Executive Chairman
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HLB)MANN JUDD

ADVISORY AND ACCOUNTING

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

As lead auditor for the audit of the consolidated financial report of Riversgold Limited for the year
ended 30 June 2025, | declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no
contraventions of:

a) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit;
and

b) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Perth, Western Australia N G Neill
30 September 2025 Partner

hib.com.au

HLB Mann Judd ABN 22 193 232 714

A Western Australian Partnership

Level 4, 130 Stirling Street, Perth WA 6000 / PO Box 8124 Perth BC WA 6849

T: +61(0)8 9227 7500 E: mailbox@hlbwa.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

HLB Mann Judd is a member of HLB International, the global advisory and accounting network.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the financial year ended 30 June 2025

Consolidated
2025 2024

Restated (i)
$ $

Continuing operations

Interest revenue 6 17,126 23,626
Other income 6 498,922 40,948
Employee and director expenses 6 (367,517) (457,312)
Share-based payment reversal/ (expense) 17 1,911,806 (554,558)
Corporate expenses (177,141) (172,812)
Administration and other expenses 6 (708,457) (897,660)
Financing (costs)/ gain 6 (722) (6,016)
Decrease in value of current financial assets 10 (10,359) (52,462)
Share of net loss of associates accounted for
using equity method 13 (4,532) (15,224)
Depreciation expense 12 (8,127) (12,096)
Exploration costs expensed 6 (1,661,853) (3,990,527)
Loss before income tax (510,854) (6,094,093)
Income tax expense 7 - -
Loss after tax from continuing operations (510,854) (6,094,093)
Loss for the year (510,854) (6,094,093)
Other comprehensive income, net of income
tax
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year (510,854) (6,094,093)
Cents Cents
Basic and diluted loss per share 28 (0.033) (0.62)

(i) Restated due to a retrospective change in accounting policy — refer to note 4

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2025

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Current financial assets
Other current assets

Total current assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and
equipment

Non-current financial assets
Total non-current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Employee leave liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities

Net assets

Equity

Issued capital
Accumulated losses
Reserves

Total equity

Note

10
11

12

14
15

16

18

Consolidated

30 June 2025 30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Restated (i) Restated (i)
$ $
223,647 775,547 4,911,034
8,571 25,381 83,654
8,982 9,646 -
21,478 45,692 20,498
262,678 856,266 5,015,186
658 8,785 16,581
20,000 20,000 20,000
20,658 28,785 36,581
283,336 885,051 5,051,767
220,824 221,956 499,497
12,820 6,217 37,860
233,644 228,173 537,357
233,644 228,173 537,357
49,692 656,878 4,514,410
37,236,300 35,474,162 33,942,159
(41,839,664) (41,328,810) (35,234,717)
4,653,056 6,511,526 5,806,968
49,692 656,878 4,514,410

(i) Restated due to a retrospective change in accounting policy — refer to note 4

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 30 June 2025

Consolidated
Share based

Accumulated payment
Issued capital losses reserve

s 3 S

Restated (i)

At 1 July 2023 33,942,159 (27,431,023) 5,806,968 12,318,104
Retrospective adjustment upon

change in accounting policy - (7,803,694) - (7,803,694)
Restated balance at 1 July 2023 33,942,159 (35,234,717) 5,806,968 4,514,410
Loss for the period - (6,094,093) - (6,094,093)
Other comprehensive income - - - -
Total comprehensive loss - (6,094,093) - (6,094,093)

Transactions with equity holders in
their capacity as equity holders:

Shares issued 1,330,534 - - 1,330,534
Share issue costs (28,131) - - (28,131)
Share-based payments:

Employees/directors - - 554,558 554,558
Project acquisition 229,600 - 150,000 379,600
Balance at 30 June 2024 35,474,162 (41,328,810) 6,511,526 656,878
At 1 July 2024 (Restated (i) 35,474,162 (41,328,810) 6,511,526 656,878
Loss for the period - (510,854) - (510,854)
Other comprehensive income - - - -
Total comprehensive loss - (510,854) - (510,854)

Transactions with equity holders

in their capacity as equity holders:

Shares issued 1,869,466 - - 1,869,466
Share issue costs (182,328) - 31,380 (150,948)
Share-based payments:

Employees/directors - (1,911,806) (1,911,806)
Project acquisition 75,000 - 21,956 96,956

Balance at 30 June 2025 37,236,300 (41,839,664) 4,653,056 49,692

(i) Restated due to a retrospective change in accounting policy — refer to note 4

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 30 June 2025

Cash flows from operating activities

Consolidated

2025

$

2024
Restated (i)
$

Payments to suppliers and employees (2,740,080) (5,456,055)
Interest received 17,126 23,626
R&D tax incentive received 471,649 -
Other income 27,273 25,440
Net cash used in operating activities 27 (2,224,032) (5,406,989)
Cash flows from investing activities

Payment for equity-accounted investments (5,283) (14,474)
Payment for financial asset (9,695) (62,108)
Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment - 17,000
Payment for plant and equipment - (5,351)
Net cash used in investing activities (14,978) (64,933)
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from the issue of shares 1,844,030 1,355,970
Payments for share issue costs (156,920) (22,159)
Net cash from financing activities 1,687,110 1,333,811
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash held (551,900) (4,138,111)
Cash at the beginning of the financial year 775,547 4,911,034
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held - 2,624
Cash at the end of the financial year 8 223,647 775,547

(i) Restated due to a retrospective change in accounting policy — refer to note 4

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2025

Note 1 Summary of material accounting policies

Riversgold Ltd (‘the Company’) is a listed public company domiciled in Australia. The consolidated financial
report of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2025 comprises the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the ‘Group’).

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Group in the preparation
of the financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.The Group is a for-profit entity for financial
reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest dollar.

The financial report of the Group was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of Directors on
30 September 2025.

Change in accounting policy

In accordance with AASB 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources, the Group has elected to
“expense as incurred” expenditure within an area of interest. In previous reporting periods, exploration
and evaluation expenditure was capitalised initially then assessed for impairment or de-recognition at
least annually. The Directors formed the view that the change in the Group’s accounting policy would
provide more relevant and reliable information to management and users of the financial statements. The
Group has restated the opening statements of financial position as at 1 July 2023 and 1 July 2024, with
consequent changes to other comparative statements, as disclosed in note 4.

Going Concern

These financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis which contemplates the
continuity of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and discharge of liabilities in the
normal course of business.

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group incurred a loss of $510,854 (2024: $6,094,093) and had net
operating cash outflows of $2,224,032 (2024: $5,406,989). The Group has cash of $223,647 as at 30 June
2025 (2024: $775,547) and net current assets of $29,034 at 30 June 2025 (2024: $628,093).

On 30 September 2025, the Company announced it had received firm commitments to raise $1,800,000
(before costs) via a placement of new shares at $0.0045 each to sophisticated investors. The Directors
have prepared a cash flow for a period of 12 months (forecast period) from the date of signing this report
which indicates that, subject to completion of the placement, they have sufficient funds to meet the
Company's expenditure requirements. The cash flow forecast assumes that the Group will raise additional
capital either through the issue of further shares, or the sale of assets, or a combination of these activities
to continue to actively explore its mineral properties and fund corporate administration.

In the event the Group is not able to raise the full amount of the required funding, the Directors are
confident that they have the ability to reduce expenditure as and when required including, but not limited
to, reviewing all expenditure for deferral or elimination, to enable the Group to meet the minimum
exploration requirements of the tenement and keep it in good standing.
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Note 1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

There remains however, given significant uncertainty in relation to assumptions in the cash flow forecast,
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt as to whether the Group can continue as a going
concern in the period at least 12 months from the date of the approval of the financial statements of the
Group, and therefore whether it will be able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business. The financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability or
classification of recorded asset amounts, nor the amounts or classification of liabilities that might be
necessary should the Group not be able to continue as a going concern.

Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial report of Riversgold Ltd complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which
include Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), in their entirety.
Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the financial report also complies with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) in their entirety.

Adoption of New and Revised Standards

Standards and Interpretations applicable to 30 June 2025

In the financial year ended 30 June 2025, the Directors have reviewed all the new and revised Standards
and Interpretations issued by the AASB that are relevant to the Group and effective for the current annual
reporting period. As a result of this review, the Directors have determined that new and revised Standards
and Interpretations have no material effect on the Group’s reported balances.

Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet effective

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are
not yet mandatory, have not been early adopted by the consolidated entity for the annual reporting period
ended 30 June 2025.

The Directors have reviewed all of the new and revised Standards and interpretations in issue not yet
adopted that are relevant to the Group and effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July
2025. As a result of this review, the directors have determined that the following changes are considered
potentially relevant to the Group, because of the potential creation of an associate or joint venture for the
Northern Zone project. No change is yet necessary to Group accounting policies because relevant details
are yet to be determined.

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture clarified the treatment of transactions with associates or
joint venture partners, with the full gain or loss to be recognised on disposal of a business combination to
an associate or joint venture. AASB 2021-7(a-c) Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards —
Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 10 and AASB 128 and Editorial Corrections deferred the mandatory
effective date of relevant amendments to 1 January 2025.

AASB 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements replaces AASB 101 as the standard describing
the primary financial statements and sets out requirements for the presentation and disclosure of
information in financial statements. Amongst other changes, it introduces the concept of the
“management-defined performance measure” to financial statements and requires the classification of
transactions presented in the statement of profit or loss within one of five categories — operating,
investing, financing, income taxes, and discontinued operations. It also provides enhanced requirements
for the aggregation and disaggregation of information. It is mandatory for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027. This will have no effect on net profit or loss or net equity balances
of the Group but will considerably change disclosures.
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Note 1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

Reporting basis and conventions

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, and on an accrual
basis.

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AIFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 3.

Principles of consolidation

The financial statements of subsidiary companies are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date control commences until the date control ceases. The financial statements of subsidiary
companies are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting
policies.

Inter-entity balances resulting from transactions with or between controlled entities are eliminated in full
on consolidation. Investments in subsidiary companies are accounted for at cost in the individual financial
statements of the Company.

(b) Segment reporting

Operating segments are identified and segment information disclosed, where appropriate, on the basis of
internal reports reviewed by the Company’s Board of Directors, being the Group’s Chief Operating Decision
Maker, as defined by AASB 8.

(c) Impairment of assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash generating units). Non-
financial assets, other than goodwill, that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.
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Note 1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(d) Government grants

Government grants are recognised at fair value, but not recognised until there is reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received and all grant conditions will be met. Grants relating to assets, being
government grants whose primary condition is that that an entity qualifying for them should construct,
purchase or other acquire long-term assets, are deducted from the carrying value of the relevant asset.
Any government grant that is not a grant relating to assets is a grant relating to income. Grants relating to
expense items are generally recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the grant to the
costs they are compensating, unless the grant only becomes recognisable for expenses or losses already
incurred, in which case the grant is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it becomes receivable.

Amounts received or receivable from the Australian Tax Office in respect of research and development tax
concession claims are recognised in the year in which the claim is lodged with the Australian Tax Office. If
such amounts receivable do not meet the definition of grants relating to assets but relate to prior
expenditure, these amounts received or receivable are recognised as Other income. Although capitalised
mineral exploration expenditure is recognised as an asset by the Group, such recognition is irrelevant in
considering the definition of grants relating to an asset.

(e) Fair value estimation

The nominal value less estimated credit loss adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed
to approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated
by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the
Group for similar financial instruments.

() Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditure

Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditure is expensed as incurred. No expenditure is recognised for
expenditures of entities on exploration interests that the Group has farmed out to those other entities.
This is changed from the accounting policy for the year ended 30 June 2024 as disclosed in note 4.

(g) Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the entity but is not control or joint control
of those policies. Investments in associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements by
applying the equity method of accounting, whereby the investment is initially recognised at cost (including
transaction costs) and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the Group’s share of net
assets of the associate. In addition, the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
is included in the consolidated financial statements.

Profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the associate. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses unless
it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. When the
associate subsequently makes profits, the Group will resume recognising its share of those profits once its
share of the profits equals the share of the losses not recognised.
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Note 1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(h) Share-based payments

Share-based payments

Share-based payments are made when the Group issues or grants shares, performance rights, share
options or cash settled share-based payments to counterparties, including directors and employees, in
consideration for goods or services. These may be subject to vesting conditions.

Fair values of options, performance rights and shares granted are recognised as a share-based payment
expense with a corresponding increase in equity unless other classifications are more appropriate. Fair
values are measured at grant date and recognised over the period during which the counterparty become
unconditionally entitled to the share-based payments.

Fair values at grant date of share options are determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that
takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the share price at grant date and expected
price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free rate for the term of
the option. Fair values at grant date of performance rights and shares are based on the Company’s closing
share price at the grant date. Fair values of share-based payments are adjusted to reflect market based
vesting conditions.

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected
to become exercisable. At each balance date, the entity revises its estimate of the number of options that
are expected to become exercisable. The share-based payment expense recognised each period takes into
account the most recent estimates.

Proceeds received on the exercise of options, net of any directly attributable transaction costs, are
credited to share capital.

(i) Earnings per share

(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to equity holders of the
Company, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for
no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(i) Comparative figures

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes
in presentation for the current financial year. Comparative figures have also been revised to reflect the
change in accounting policy disclosed in note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2025

Note 1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(k) Investments and other financial assets

Investments and other financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs are included
as part of the initial measurement, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Such
assets are subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value depending on their classification.

Classification is determined based on both the business model within which such assets are held and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. When
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering part or all of a financial asset, it's carrying value is
written off.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets not measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income
are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Typically, such financial assets will be
either:

(i) held for trading, where they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the short-term with an
intention of making a profit, or a derivative; or

(i) designated as such upon initial recognition where permitted. Fair value movements are recognised
in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets which are either
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. The measurement of
the loss allowance depends upon the Group’s assessment at the end of each reporting period as to
whether the financial instrument's credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, based
on reasonable and supportable information that is available, without undue cost or effort to obtain.
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Note 1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(N Fair value estimation

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods:

Investments in equity and debt securities

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is determined by reference to their
quoted bid price at the reporting date. The fair value of held to maturity investments is determined for
disclosure purposes only.

Trade and other receivables

The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows,
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. An impairment loss is calculated as the
difference between the present value of the contractual and expected future cashflows.

Fair value measurement

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure
purposes, the fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that
the transaction will take place either: in the principal market; or in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified, into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed at
each reporting date and transfers between levels are determined based on a reassessment of the lowest
level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

Fair value hierarchy

AASB 13 requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair value hierarchy, which
categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible tiers based on the lowest level that an
input that is significant to the measurement can be categorised into as follows:

(i) Tier1: Measurements based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date. Measurements based on
inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

(ii) Tier 2: Measurements based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly

(iii) Tier 3: Measurements based on unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. The fair values
of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of
observable market data.

The Group would only change the categorisation within the fair value hierarchy if a market that was
previously considered active (Tier 1) became inactive (Tier 2 or Tier 3) or vice versa, or if significant inputs
that were previously unobservable (Tier 3) became observable (Tier 2) or vice versa.
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Note 2 Financial risk management

The Group has exposure to various risks from its use of financial instruments. This note describes the
Group’s exposure to specific risks, and policies and processes for measuring and managing those risks. The
Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for the risk management framework and has adopted a
Risk Management Policy.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from transactions with customers and
investments.

Trade and other receivables

The nature of the business activity of the Group does not result in trading receivables. The receivables that
the Group does experience through its normal course of business are short term and the most significant
recurring by quantity is receivable from the Australian Taxation Office, the risk of non-recovery of
receivables from this source is considered to be negligible.

Cash deposits

The Directors believe any risk associated with the use of predominantly only one bank is addressed
through the use of at least an A-rated bank as a primary banker. Except for this matter the Group currently
has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring cash reserves and forecast spending. Management is
cognisant of the future demands for financial resources to finance the Company’s current and future
operations, and considers liquid assets available before committing to future expenditure or investment.

(c) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimising any return.

Interest rate risk

The Group has significant cash assets which may be susceptible to changes in interest rates. Whilst the
Group requires the cash assets to be sufficiently liquid to cover any planned or unforeseen future
expenditure, which prevents the cash assets being committed to long term fixed interest arrangements;
the Group does mitigate potential interest rate risk by entering into short to medium term fixed interest
investments.
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Note 2 Financial risk management (continued)

Equity price risk

The Group acquired shares in an Australian listed company during the year. These shares are subject to
changes in the share price of the listed company.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the
financial statements approximates their fair value. The shares in a listed company, included in the balance
of current financial assets, are Tier 1 financial instrument because they are valued based on quoted prices
on a securities exchange.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group may, in respect of its operations, be exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates which
will have direct impact on the Group’s net assets. Movements in foreign exchange may favourably or
adversely affect future amounts to be incurred by the Group. The Group does not have any direct contact
with foreign exchange fluctuations other than their effect on the general economy and Canadian
exploration expenditures disclosed in note 19.

Note 3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the Group and that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Treatment of payment received for exploration interests as other income

A $27,273 payment received in 2025 for the sale of information relating to a previously disposed tenement
has been recognised as other income, and not offset against exploration and evaluation expenses, because
this payment did not relate to any mineral exploration interest held in 2025.

A $25,000 non-refundable deposit received in 2024 for the potential sale of nickel and cobalt rights over
tenement E28/3034 was recognised as other income, and not offset against exploration and evaluation
expenses, because this deposit was non-refundable and the Group had no previous exploration focus on
nickel or cobalt for this tenement.

Functional currency

The functional currency of all entities in the Group is Australian dollars. Although expenditure is incurred
in Canadian dollars on Canadian exploration interests, this expenditure is incurred by the Company and
accounted for by the Company, with no payments by a separate Canadian subsidiary or recognition of
expenditure by a separate Canadian subsidiary.

Accounting for share-based payments

Values of share-based payments are estimated based on the fair values of equity instruments granted. Fair
values of share-based payments are estimated as disclosed in note 1(o). Some parameters for valuation
models, particularly volatility, are subject to significant judgement. The sensitivity of valuations to changes
in parameters varies considerably, but option valuations can be particularly sensitive to volatility. See note
17 for details.

12,000,000 share options were issued to each of unrelated parties 708 Capital Pty Ltd and Yelverton Capital
Pty Ltd on 12 July 2024 in consideration for corporate advisory services, following shareholder approval
on 12 July 2024. These options vested immediately with an exercise price of $0.01 and an expiry date of
12 July 2027. These options have been valued based on a grant date of 12 July 2024 as transactions with
employees and those providing similar services, and expensed as share-based payments, because there
was no prior agreement with the recipients for services and no single specific services received that have
fair values that can be estimated reliably.
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Note 3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

15,000,000 share options were issued to unrelated party Eli Capital Pty Ltd on 20 December 2024 in partial
consideration for capital raising services, following shareholder approval on 28 November 2024. These
options were exercisable on issue with an exercise price of $0.01 and an expiry date of 20 December 2027.
These options are valued based on a measurement date of 17 October 2024, the most significant date for
the relevant capital raising, and recognised as a capital raising cost.

2,000,000 share options were agreed to be issued to Director Edward (Ed) Mead in 2023, subject to
shareholder approval, with his appointment agreement including alternative remuneration of equivalent
value if shareholder approval was not achieved. Consequently, these options constituted a share-based
payment that was granted at his commencement date of 21 November 2022 and fully expensed during
2023. These options were issued on 7 December 2023 following shareholder approval on 30 November
2023. This share-based payment is treated as an equity-settled share-based payment, not a cash-settled
share-based payment, because it was considered unlikely that shareholders would not approve the issue
of the options. Consequently, there is no adjustment in 2024 to the amount previously recognised for this
share-based payment, with this share-based payment fully recognised in 2023.

18,750,000 shares and 9,375,000 share options were issued to unrelated party Arcadia Corporate Pty Ltd
on 23 December 2024, in partial consideration for facilitating the acquisition of the Saint John project. This
followed shareholder approval on 28 November 2024. These options were exercisable on issue with an
exercise price of $0.008 and an expiry date of 23 December 2027. These shares and options were issued
pursuant to an agreement dated 7 October 2024 which had the shares valued at a deemed price of $0.004
per share for a total value of $75,000, and the shares to be issued regardless of shareholder approval. As
the option agreement for Saint John project acquisition was signed on 9 October 2024, and the
SCAD60,000 initial option fee for this acquisition was paid by Riversgold on 9 October 2024, the
measurement date for these options is 9 October 2024. The 18,750,000 shares are reasonably valued as a
share-based payment at $0.004 per share for a total value of $75,000 because the arm’s length agreement
with an unrelated party provides a reasonable basis for determining the fair value of the services received.
These options have been valued based on a measurement date of 7 October 2024, the most significant
date for the services received. $75,000 for the shares and $21,956 for the options are recognised as
exploration costs expensed because these are fully expensed as tenement acquisition costs

The Group acquired tenement application E47/5069 with payment of $50,000 on 29 November 2023 and
deferred consideration of $150,000 worth of Riversgold shares at issue price equal to 10-day VWAP to the
date of issue. These deferred consideration shares were issuable on the earlier of the grant of this
tenement, withdrawal of the tenement application or 8 months from execution. These deferred
consideration shares were issued on 23 July 2024, with 23,437,500 shares issued at a calculated price of
$0.0064 per share. As there was no choice available in the contract for settlement of the deferred
consideration in cash, the deferred consideration was recognised and measured as a share-based payment
in 2024, and not as a financial instrument. As the arm’s length value of the deferred consideration was
explicitly $150,000 in the acquisition agreement, this share-based payment was valued at $150,000 in 2024
with no need for separate valuation or re-valuation of the deferred consideration shares.

In 2024, the Group acquired an option to acquire 100% of the Abigail Lithium Project in Canada. Purchase
consideration for the initial 120-day exclusive period and option was:

e Payment of $85,905 (SCAD75,000) by the Company, which was made on 1 September 2023,
e An exploration program that was completed during 2024, and

e Either 16,400,000 shares at a deemed issue price of $0.014 per share for a total value of $229,600,
subject to shareholder approval, or a cash payment by the Company of SCAD200,000. This was
satisfied when Riversgold issued 16,400,000 shares on 18 December 2023 as part of option fee for the
Abigail Lithium project as announced on 31 August 2023.
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Note 3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

Riversgold elected to not exercise this option following Riversgold’s completion of due diligence. The
16,400,000 shares issued on 18 December 2023 were valued at $0.014 per share being the value agreed
in the arm’s length contract with no rebuttal of the presumption that this was the agreed value for this
element of the consideration, so consequently creating no need to separately value the shares issued. This
option fee and all expenditure on the Abigail Lithium Project were fully expensed as disclosed in note 6.

Non-recognition of amount receivable for expected Research & Development tax refund

No amount receivable was recognised at 30 June 2024 for the $471,649 Research & Development
refundable tax offset for the year ended 30 June 2023 that was still being processed by the Australian
Taxation Office (ATO) at the date of the 2024 report, before it was received in 2025. This followed the
policy in note 1(h) and the requirement of AASB120 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of
Government Assistance paragraph 7(a) that grants are not recognised before there is reasonable assurance
of compliance with the grant conditions, and because the grant conditions included considerable analysis,
documentation and decisions that were not final before 30 June 2024. This refundable tax offset is
recognised in profit or loss in 2025 as disclosed in note 6.

Note 4 Effect of change in accounting policy

As disclosed in note 1a), the Group has changed its accounting policy to “expense as incurred” mineral
exploration and evaluation expenditure, with restatements required for comparative financial statements
that eliminate previously capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure. This has led to the following
changes to comparative balances.

Increase/
(decrease)

Increase/
(decrease)

1July 2023
(restated) 1 July 2024

1 July 2024
(restated)

1 July 2023
$ $ $ $ $ $

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Extract)

Capitalised

exploration and

evaluation

expenditure 7,803,694 (7,803,694) - 6,762,796 (6,762,796) -
Other assets - - - 200,000 (200,000) -
Net Assets 12,318,104 (7,803,694) 4,514,410 7,619,674 (6,962,796) 656,878
Accumulated

losses (27,431,023) (7,803,694) (35,234,717) (34,366,014) (6,962,796) (41,328,810)
Total equity 12,318,104 (7,803,694) 4,514,410 7,619,674 (6,962,796) 656,878
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Note 4 Effect of change in accounting policy (continued)

30 June 2024 Increase/ 30 June 2024

(decrease) (restated)S

$ 3

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Extract)

Exploration costs expensed and written off (4,831,425) 4,831,425 -
Exploration and evaluation expenses - (3,990,527)) (3,990,527)
Loss for the period (6,934,991) 840,898 (6,094,093)
Total comprehensive loss for the period (6,934,991) 840,898 (6,094,093)

Within the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2024, payments for
exploration and evaluation and proceeds on disposal of mineral exploration interests were reclassified
from investing activities to operating activities, and included in the balance of Payments to suppliers and
employees. This has led to the following changes to comparative balances.

30 June 2024 Increase/ 30 June 2024

(decrease) (restated)S

$ S

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Extract)

Payments to suppliers and employees (3,792,918) (1,663,137) (5,456,055)
Net cash used in operating activities (3,743,852) (1,663,137) (5,406,989)
Payments for exploration and evaluation (1,664,137) 1,664,137 -
Proceeds on disposal of mineral exploration

interests 1,000 (1,000) -
Net cash used in investing activities (1,728,070) 1,663,137 (64,933)
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Note 5 Segment information

The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used
by the Board of Directors in assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources.
Reportable segments disclosed are based on aggregating operating segments, where the segments have
similar characteristics.

The Group’s activities encompass mineral exploration and resource development in Australia and Canada
and as such management previously identified the Group’s geographic positions as its operating segments.
Although, the expenditure on the St John Project in Canada was solely made by the parent and the Group
has no foreign subsidiaries with transactions during 2025, internal exploration expenditure reports
separate Canadian project acquisition costs and Canadian exploration expenditure costs, so Canadian
expenses are separately disclosed but all assets and liabilities have been allocated to the Australian
segment for the current and comparative half-year. Comparative information has been restated to reflect
the change in accounting policy as disclosed in note 4 and the exploration expenses relating to the former
Abigail Lithium Project in Canada.

The following tables present revenue and loss information and certain asset and liability information
regarding operating segments for the financial years ended 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024.

30 June 2025 Australia Consolidated
$ $
Interest income 17,126 - 17,126
Other Income 498,922 - 498,922
Segment income 516,048 - 516,048

Segment gain/ (loss) before income tax

expense 74,090 (584,944) (510,854)
Current assets 262,678 - 262,678
Non-current assets 20,658 - 20,658
Segment assets 283,336 - 283,336
Segment liabilities 233,644 - 233,644

Included within segment loss

Depreciation 8,127 - 8,127
Exploration costs expensed 1,076,909 584,944 1,661,853
Employee and director expenses 367,517 - 367,517

Interest expense - - -

Cash flow information

Net cash outflows from operating

activities (1,736,044) (487,988) (2,224,032)
Net cash (outflows)/ inflows from

investing activities (14,978) - (14,978)
Net cash inflows from financing activities 1,687,110 - 1,687,110
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Note 5 Segment information (continued)

30 June 2024 Australia Canada Consolidated
$ $ $
Interest income 23,626 - 23,626
Other Income 40,948 - 40,948
Segment income 64,574 - 64,574
Segment loss before income tax expense (5,516,511) (577,582) (6,094,093)
Current assets 856,266 - 856,266
Non-current assets 28,785 - 28,785
Segment assets 885,051 - 885,051
Segment liabilities 228,173 - 228,173

Included within segment loss

Depreciation 12,096 - 12,096
Exploration costs expensed 3,412,945 577,582 3,990,527
Employee and director expenses 457,312 - 457,312

Interest expense - - -

Cash flow information

Net cash outflows from operating

activities (5,059,007) (347,982) (5,406,989)
Net cash (outflows)/ inflows from

investing activities (64,933) - (64,933)
Net cash inflows from financing activities 1,333,811 - 1,333,811
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Note 6 Loss for the year

Consolidated
2025 2024

Restated
S S

Loss before income tax includes the following specific income and expenses:

Interest revenue
Interest income 17,126 23,626

Other income
Non-refundable deposit for sale of exploration

rights (see note 3) - 25,000

Gain on disposal of plant and equipment - 15,948

Proceeds on disposal of information for previously

disposed tenements 27,273 -

Research and Development tax incentive 471,649 -
498,922 40,948

Employee expenses

Salaries and wages (162,250) (391,238)
Directors’ fees (320,000) (320,000)
Director consulting fees (36,950) -
Superannuation (18,659) (34,282)
Annual leave provided for (6,603) 31,643
Other employee costs (3,964) (21,415)
Amount allocated to exploration 180,909 277,980
Net employee expenses (367,517) (457,312)

Administration and other expenses

Insurance (36,982) (47,587)
Legal fees (103,953) (296,301)
Marketing expenses (111,797) (137,297)
Accountancy (212,008) (174,039)
Other expenses (243,717) (242,436)

(708,457) (897,660)

Financing (costs)/ gain:

Written off debtor - (8,567)
Reversed previously written off debtor - 440
Other foreign exchange movements (722) 2,111

(722) (6,016)
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Note 6 Loss for the year (continued)

Consolidated
2025 2024

Restated
S S

Exploration and evaluation expenses:

Cash paid for Abigail Lithium Project option - (85,905)
Shares issued for Abigail Lithium Project option (see note 19) - (229,600)
Evaluation of Abigail Lithium Project - (262,077)
Proceeds on disposal of exploration interest - 1,000
Cash consideration for Andover project - (50,000)
Deferred share consideration for Andover project - (150,000)
Option fee for Saint John project (65,290) -
Share-based payments for Saint John project acquisition (95,956) -
Other Saint John project expenses (423,698) -
Other Australian exploration expenses (1,076,909) (3,213,945)

(1,661,853) (3,990,527)

Note 7 Income tax

Consolidated
2025 2024

Restated

$ S

a) Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax

payable

Profit/(Loss) from continuing operations before income tax (510,854) (6,094,003)

expense

H 0,

Tax at the Australian rate of 30% (153,256) (1,828,228)

Capital raising costs claimed (42,098) (36,785)

Non-deductible share-based payments (573,542) 166,367

Other deductible non-expenses or non-deductible expenses (74,926) (55,184)

Net deferred tax asset benefit not brought to account 843,822 1,753,830

Tax (benefit)/expense - -

b) Deferred tax — Statement of Financial Position

Assets

Bevenue losses available to offset against future taxable 6,114,806 5,275,024

income

Capital losses available to offset against future taxable income 1,616,237 1,616,237

Capitalised exploration - Australia 980,314 1,016,752

Deductible equity raising costs 99,038 91,320

Other unrecognised deferred tax balances 37,684 9,938
8,848,079 8,009,271

Liabilities

Other unrecognised deferred tax balances (6,443) (13,708)

Net deferred tax asset not recognised 8,841,636 7,995,563
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Note 7 Income tax (continued)

Unrecognised deferred tax balances are based on the best available information, but are uncertain
because of variations in tax treatment of capital losses on foreign assets. Available tax losses are Australian
tax revenue losses of $20,382,685 ($17,569,944 per 2024 Australian consolidated tax return) with
Australian capital losses of $5,387,457 (55,387,457 per 2024 Australian consolidated tax return). Foreign
tax losses are not included because Canadian transactions are considered as relating to non-assessable
non-exempt income for Australian purposes. All unused tax losses were incurred by Australian entities.

The deferred tax benefit of tax losses not brought to account will only be obtained if:

(i) The Group derives future assessable income of a nature and an amount sufficient to enable the
benefit from the tax losses to be realised;

(ii)  The Group continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation; and

(iii)  No changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Group realising the benefit from the deduction of
the losses.

Consolidated

2025
$

Note 8 Current assets - Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and on hand 223,647 775,547
Total cash and cash equivalents 223,647 775,547

(a)  Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year
The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash
flows as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents per statement of cash
flows 223,647 775,547

Note 9 Current assets — Trade and other receivables

GST receivable 8,571 25,381
8,571 25,381

Debtors totalling Snil (2024: $8,567) were written off during the year, including no amounts that were
receivable at 30 June 2025 (30 June 2024: nil). Details of fair value and exposure to interest risk are
included at note 19.
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Note 10 Current financial assets

Consolidated

2025

$
Balance at the beginning of the period 9,646 -
Acquisition of shares in listed company 9,695 62,108
Decrease in value of current financial assets (10,359) (52,462)
8,982 9,646

During 2024, the Group purchased 1,378,011 shares in an ASX listed company for a total purchase cost of
$62,108 and average purchase cost of $0.0451 per share. During the current year, the Group purchased
an additional 1,211,880 shares with 1,211,880 free attaching options for a total purchase cost of $9,695
at $0.008 per share, to have 2,589,891 shares and 1,211,880 options. These 2,589,891 shares were valued
at $0.003 each at the end of the year (30 June 2024: $0.007 each) for a decrease in value of $11,571 (2024:
$52,462 decrease). The 1,211,880 free attaching options were valued at nil initial value then at $0.001
each at the end of the year for a total value of $1,212 and an increase in value of $1,212. The net decrease
in value is expensed through profit and loss. These shares and options are Tier 1 financial assets as they
are valued based on quoted prices on a securities exchange.

Note 11 Current assets — Other current assets

Prepayments 21,478 45,692

21,478 45,692
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Note 12 Non-Current assets — Property, plant and equipment

Consolidated

2025
$

Field equipment

At cost 18,425 18,425
Accumulated depreciation (18,425) (13,500)
- 4,925
Office equipment
At cost 78,102 78,102
Accumulated depreciation (77,444) (74,242)
658 3,860
Total property, plant and equipment 658 8,785
Reconciliation

Field equipment

Opening net book value 4,925 11,060
Additions - -
Depreciation (4,925) (6,135)
Closing net book value - 4,925

Office equipment

Opening net book value 3,860 5,521
Additions - 5,351
Disposals - (1,051)
Depreciation (3,202) (5,961)
Closing net book value 658 3,860

No items of property, plant and equipment have been pledged as security by the Group.

The Group has recognised no right of use assets, or related liabilities, in 2025 or 2024 because all leases
are short-term or without specified assets.
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Note 13 Interests in joint ventures and farm-in arrangements
a) Joint Venture Agreements — Joint Operations
Joint venture agreements may be entered into with third parties.

No assets are recognised for assets employed by these joint ventures because the Group’s exploration and
evaluation expenditure is fully expensed. The Group was not party to joint arrangements during the year.

b) Farm-in Arrangements

The Group was party to the following farm-in arrangement 2024, until the Group exited from the Alby
Joint Venture in 2024.

Alloy Joint Venture — Earning In

The Company had entered into an agreement with Alloy Resources Limited (“Alloy”) whereby the
Company could earn up to an 85% interest in two granted Exploration Licences.

Significant terms of the farm-in arrangement were:

e The Company will pay Alloy $30,000 cash as reimbursement for previous expenditure on the
tenements.

e The Company must meet the minimum statutory expenditure of $114,000 for the first year before
withdrawing from the agreement.

e The Company can earn an initial 70% interest in the tenements by meeting statutory minimum
expenditure requirements $114,000pa for 3 years, including the first year.

e Upon the Company earning 70%, Alloy can elect to contribute pro-rata to further exploration or
revert to a 15% free-carried interest to completion of a Definitive Feasibility Study (“DFS”),
whereby the Company will have earned an 85% interest in the tenements.

e Upon completion of the DFS, Alloy will have an opportunity to contribute pro-rata to further
exploration/development or revert to a 1.5% Net Smelter Royalty.

e The Company will manage exploration on the tenements.
) Associate Accounted for using equity method.

During 2024 the Group acquired a 1/3 interest in the shares of newly incorporated Australian Company
Tambourah Lithium Group Pty Ltd (Tambourah Lithium) for $20. Both other shareholders are unrelated
with a 1/3 interest in the shares of this company with no shareholder having control or joint-control.
Tambourah Lithium is an associate of the Group because the Group has significant influence but no control
or joint control.

Since acquisition, the Group has expended funds on behalf of Tambourah Lithium with a loan recognised
in the accounts of the Group but with no formal documentation or expectation of recovery.

Consolidated

2025

$
Initial investment - 20
Funds advanced 4,532 15,204
Amount expensed (4,532) (15,224)

Closing net book value - -
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Note 14 Current liabilities — Trade and other payables

Consolidated

2025

$
Trade payables 159,521 115,548
Accrued expenses 55,280 71,332
Funds received for shares to be issued - 25,436
Other payables 6,023 9,640
220,824 221,956

Liabilities are not secured over the assets of the Group other than a $20,000 term deposit used to secure
a credit card balance within the disclosed Other payable. Details of fair value and exposure to interest
risk are included at note 19.

Consolidated

2025
$

Note 15 Current liabilities - Employee leave liabilities

Annual leave liability 12,820 6,217
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Note 16 Issued capital

a) Ordinary shares

The Company is a public company limited by shares. The Company was incorporated in Perth, Western
Australia. The Company’s shares are limited whereby the liability of its members is limited to the amount
(if any) unpaid on the shares respectively held by them.

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the
Company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. On a show of hands every
holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a
poll each share is entitled to one vote.

Ordinary shares have no par value. There is no limit to the authorised share capital of the Company.

30 June 2025 30 June 2024

Number S Number S

b) Share capital
Issued share capital 1,683,712,593 37,236,300 1,209,576,820 35,474,162

¢) Share movements during the period

Balance at the start of the period 1,209,576,820 35,474,162 951,261,457 33,942,159
Shares issued in part

consideration for option fee for $0.014 - - 16,400,000 229,600
Abigail Lithium Project

Shares issued under share $0.0055 94,448,273 519,466 241,915,363 1,330,534
placement

Shares issued for $150,000 of
deferred consideration for
tenement acquisition recognised
in prior year as a share-based

payment (see note 3) - 23,437,500 - - -
Shares issued under share
placement $0.004 300,000,000 1,200,000 - -
Shares issued under share
placement for directors and key $0.004 37,500,000 150,000 - -

management personnel
Shares issued in part

consideration for St John Project $0.004 18,750,000 75,000 - -
facilitation

Less share-based payment for

share issue costs - (31,380) - -
Less other share issue costs - (150,948) - (28,131)
Balance at the end of the period 1,683,712,593 37,236,300 1,209,576,820 35,474,162
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Note 17 Options and share-based payments

The current Riversgold Ltd Employee Security Incentive Plan (“the Plan”) was approved on 28 November
2022. All eligible Directors, employees and consultants of Riversgold Ltd are eligible to participate in the
Plan. The Plan allows the Company to issue equity securities to eligible persons. The equity securities can
be granted free of charge and are exercisable at a fixed price in accordance with the Plan.

A net gain of $1,911,806 (2024: expense of $554,558) was recognised as share-based payments during the
year for the following share-based payments:

e A gain of $2,403,050 (2024: expense of $620,688) was recognised during the year when the
Quarterback performance rights became incapable of vesting as disclosed in note 17h).

e An expense of (5491,244) was recognised during the year for the total of 134,000,000 options that
were granted and issued on 12 July 2024. These options all have an exercise price of $0.01, expire 12
July 2027 and have no vesting conditions. The recipients and valuations are disclosed in note 17a).

In 2025 the following share-based payments were not recognised in the share-based payment expense
account:

e 531,380 is recognised as a capital raising cost for the share-based payment of 15,000,000 options
issued to Eli Capital Pty Ltd as disclosed in note 17a).

e  Further amounts of $75,000 and $21,956 for a total of $95,956 are recognised as exploration and
evaluation expenses, for the share-based payments of 18,750,000 shares and 9,375,000 options
respectively, both issued to Arcadia Corporate Pty Ltd as disclosed in note 3. The $75,000 was
recognised in issued capital as disclosed in note 16.

In 2024 the following $554,688 of share-based payments were recognised in the share-based payment
expense account:

e An expense of $620,688 was recognised for the Quarterback performance rights over the vesting
period.

e ($66,130) of previously expensed amounts for unvested performance rights for a terminated
employee was reversed as described in note 17h).

In 2024 the following share-based payments were not recognised in the share-based payment expense
account:

e $150,000 was recognised as exploration and evaluation expenses for the acquisition of tenement
application E47/5069, as described in note 3.

e $229,600 was recognised as exploration and evaluation expenses for the 16,400,000 shares issued to
acquire the option to acquire the Abigail Lithium Project as described in note 3. This was recognised
immediately in issued capital, not the share-based payment reserve, because this was recognised
when the option acquisition was completed with the shares being issued.

A total of (51,858,470) (2024: 704,558), being the net gain of $1,911,806 for share-based payments (2024:
expense of 554,558), $21,956 of capitalised exploration expenditure (2024: $150,000) and $31,380 of
capital raising costs (2024: nil) was recognised in the share-based payment reserve.
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Note 17 Options and share-based payments (continued)

a) Options granted or issued during the year

The following share options were granted and fully vested during 2025.

= ] =
) = > i
. £ 2 & 5 8 £ . © o
[ = () = = & 2 — [}
2 - z : = w32, = 8 )
5 g = g 5 588 ¢ £ 3
o > i i =4 w £ > = g
David
Lenigas 12/07/24| 12/07/27| $0.01| 40,000,000 $0.006| 114% 4.05%| $0.003666| $146,640
Simon
Andrew 12/07/24| 12/07/27| $0.01| 20,000,000 $0.006| 114% 4.05%| $0.003666| $73,320
Ed Mead 12/07/24| 12/07/27| $0.01| 20,000,000 $0.006| 114% 4.05%| $0.003666| $73,320
Oonagh
Malone 12/07/24| 12/07/27| $0.01| 20,000,000 $0.006| 114% 4.05%| $0.003666| $73,320
Other
employee

and similar
recipients 12/07/24| 12/07/27| $0.01| 34,000,000 $0.006| 114% 4.05%| $0.003666| $124,644

Total recognised as share-based payment expense 5491,244
Eli Capital 17/10/24| 20/12/27| $0.01| 15,000,000| $0.0035| 125% 3.82%| $0.002092| $31,380
Total recognised as capital raising cost 531,380
Arcadia

Corporate 9/10/24| 23/12/27| $0.008| 9,375,000 $0.004| 111%| 4.29%| $0.002342| $21,956
Total recognised as exploration and evaluation expense 521,956
Total 158,375,000 $544,580

2,000,000 share options issued to Director Edward (Ed) Mead on 7 December 2023 were granted on his
commencement date of 21 November 2022 because his employment agreement included alternative
remuneration of equivalent value if shareholder approval was not achieved. Consequently, these options
were valued at 21 November 2022 and recognised in 2023. These options have an exercise price of $0.05
and expire on 9 August 2025 with no deferred vesting and no change in terms of the options between 21
November 2022 and 7 December 2023. These options were valued with the Black-Scholes formula in 2023,
using the following parameters, with no expected dividends, no discounts for other factors, and no market
based vesting conditions or deferred vesting. No other share options were issued or granted in 2024.

Measurement
Expiry date
Exercise Price
Number of
Share Price at
measurement
interest rate

o
c
9
=
(8]
o)
o

volatility
value per

Ed Mead 21/11/2022 9/08/2025 $0.05 2,000,000 $0.036 101% 3.18% $0.01960 $39,200
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Note 17 Options and share-based payments (continued)

b) Options exercised and on issue

No share options were exercised during the year or prior year.

¢) Options cancelled during the period

During the year, the following options ceased due to lapsing on expiry without exercise or conversion.

Date Granted or Issued Number Exercise price Expiry date
7 July 2021 2,000,000 4.8 cents 7 July 2024
7 July 2021 2,000,000 5.5 cents 7 July 2024
7 July 2021 2,000,000 7.4 cents 7 July 2024
10 March 2022 20,000,000 5.0 cents 30 May 2025
Total 26,000,000

No other options were exercised, lapsed, expired or became un-exercisable during the year.

337,500,000 free attaching share options with exercise price of $0.01 and expiring 20 December 2027
were issued on 20 December 2024 to participants in placements, with no additional consideration.

d) Options on issue at the balance date

The number of options outstanding over unissued ordinary shares at 30 June 2025 is 516,675,000 (30 June
2024: 46,800,000). The terms of these options are as follows:

Measurement date or

issue date Number Exercise price Expiry date
28 November 2022 2,000,000 5.0 cents 9 August 2025
9 August 2022 6,800,000 5.0 cents 9 August 2025
7 December 2023* 2,000,000 5.0 cents 9 August 2025
18 November 2022 10,000,000 5.4 cents 22 December 2025
12 July 2024 134,000,000 1.0 cents 12 July 2027
23 December 2024 9,375,000 0.8 cents 23 December 2027
20 December 2024 15,000,000 1.0 cents 20 December 2027
20 December 2024 337,500,000 1.0 cents 20 December 2027
Total 516,675,000

* These 2,000,000 options issued to Director Ed Mead on 7 December 2023 were granted in 2023 on 21

November 2022.

All options have vested at the balance date.
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Note 17 Options and share-based payments (continued)

e) Subsequent to the balance date

On 9 August 2025, the following options ceased due to expiry without exercise or conversion.

Date Granted or issued Number
28 November 2022 2,000,000

9 August 2022 6,800,000

7 December 2023* 2,000,000

Exercise price

5.0 cents
5.0 cents
5.0 cents

Expiry date

9 August 2025
9 August 2025
9 August 2025

f) Reconciliation of movement of options over unissued shares during the period including weighted

average exercise price (WAEP)

Options outstanding at the start of the

period 46,800,000 5.20 76,881,144 5.26
Options issued to investors 337,500,000 1.00 - -
Options issued during the period 158,375,000 0.99 2,000,000 5.00
Options exercised during the period - - - -
Options cancelled and expired

unexercised during the period (26,000,000) 5.21 (32,081,144) 5.32
Options outstanding at the end of the

period 516,675,000 1.17 46,800,000 5.20

g) Weighted average contractual life

The weighted average remaining contractual life for un-exercised options as at 30 June 2025 is 27 months

(2024: 12 months).
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Note 17 Options and share-based payments (continued)

h) Performance rights

Quarterback Performance Rights

Shareholders granted approval on 6 August 2020 for the issue of 50,000,000 performance rights to
Quarterback Geological Consultants Pty Ltd (“Quarterback”) as consideration for geological strategy and
consultancy services to be provided at the Kurnalpi Project in Western Australia. The Quarterback
Performance Rights were to convert into shares on a one for one basis on achievement of the following
milestones, or lapse if performance milestones were not met within 5 years of the commencement date.
These performance rights ceased on 13 August 2025 following the surrender of the last tenement at the
Kurnalpi Project on 9 May 2025 and the end of the potential vesting period on 17 June 2025.

Performance | Performance Milestone

Rights
Award

Class A 25,000,000 The Company makes an announcement, resulting from Quarterback’s
performance of the identifying Services, of a JORC inferred resource of
250koz of gold or gold equivalent, in relation to a Qualifying Project, on
the ASX announcements platform on or before the Expiry Date

Class B 25,000,000 The Company makes an announcement, resulting from Quarterback’s
performance of the identifying Services, of a JORC inferred resource of
500koz of gold or gold equivalent, in relation to a Qualifying Project, on
the ASX announcements platform on or before the Expiry Date

These performance rights were valued at the grant date share price of $0.06 each for a total value of
$3,000,000. On becoming incapable of vesting, the cumulative previously recognised amount for these
performance rights of $2,715,090 was reversed. This reversal included $312,040 previously expenses in
2025, for a net 2025 reversal of $2,403,050, $620,688 expensed in 2024, and a total of $1,782,362
expensed from 2021 to 2023.

Employee Performance Rights

The Company granted 3,000,000 performance rights to a non-KMP employee on 5 February 2021 with
performance-based vesting conditions that were never met.

These performance rights were valued at $0.046 each for a total value of $138,000. The value of these
performance rights was being expensed over the expected vesting period from 5 February 2021 to 5
February 2026. However, these options ceased without vesting during 2024, after the cessation of an
employee’s employment, so the full previously recognised amount of $66,130 was reversed during 2024.
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Note 18 Reserves

Consolidated
2025 2024
Share based payment Share based payment
reserve’ reserve

$

Balance at the beginning of the period 6,511,526 5,806,968

Movements during the period:
Movement in share-based payment reserve in

respect of options 544,580 -
Movement in share-based payment reserve in
respect of performance rights (2,403,050) 554,558
Movement in share-based payment reserve in
respect of deferred consideration shares - 150,000
Balance at the end of the period 4,653,056 6,511,526

(i) The share-based payment reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options and performance
rights issued.

Note 19 Financial instruments
Credit risk

The Directors do not consider that the Group’s financial assets are subject to anything more than a
negligible level of credit risk, and as such no disclosures are made beyond note 2(a).

Impairment losses and write-offs

The Directors do not consider that any of the Group’s financial assets are subject to impairment. No
impairment expense or reversal of impairment charge has occurred during the reporting period. Debtors
totalling $8,567 were written off during 2024, including no amounts that were receivable at 30 June 2023,
while $440 was received during the 2024 from a previously written off other current asset.

Interest rate risk
At the reporting date the interest profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Carrying amount ($)

2025 2024
Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets 20,000 20,000
Variable rate instruments
Financial assets 223,647 775,547

The Group is not materially exposed to interest rate risk at balance date.
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Note 19 Financial instruments (continued)

Liquidity risk

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments
and excluding the impact of netting agreements, per note 2(b):

Carrying  Contractual <6 6-12 1-2
amount cash flows months months years
$ $ $ $ $
2025
Trade & other payables 220,824 220,824 220,824 - - - -
220,824 220,824 220,824 - - - -
2024
Trade & other payables 221,956 221,956 221,956 - - - -
221,956 221,956 221,956 - - - -

The Group has no illiquid financial assets or financial assets held as security other than the $20,000 (2024:
$20,000) non-current financial asset.

Fair values

Fair values versus carrying amounts

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the
statement of financial position are as follows:

Consolidated

2025 plopZi}
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
$ $ s $
Cash and cash equivalents 223,647 223,647 775,547 775,547
Trade other receivables 8,571 8,571 25,381 25,381
Current financial assets 8,982 8,982 9,646 9,646
Non-current financial assets 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000
Trade and other payables (220,824) (220,824) (221,956) (221,956)
40,376 40,376 608,618 608,618

The Group’s policy for recognition of fair values is disclosed at note 1(l).

The Associate accounted for using equity method disclosed in note 13(c) is not a financial instrument
because it is not held via a venture capital organisation, mutual fund, unit trust or similar.
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Note 19 Financial instruments (continued)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s only direct contact with foreign exchange fluctuations is due to Canadian exploration and
evaluation expenditure. The Group had Canadian trade creditors and accrued liabilities totalling $18,582
(SCAD16,608) (2024: nil) at 30 June 2025. The Group also held a SUSD denominated bank account with a
balance of $83,110 (SUSD55,102) at 30 June 2023 that was closed during 2024 after a foreign currency
gain recognised in 2024 of $2,624.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to Equity price risk through the $8,982 of shares and listed options in an ASX listed
company (2024: $9,646) disclosed in note 10. The Group realised equity price risk when these shares
declined in value by $10,359 (2024: $52,462) during the year. The remaining equity price risk at year end
is represented by the balance of $9,646.

These shares in an ASX listed company are Tier 1 financial instrument because they are valued based on
quoted prices on a securities exchange. The Group had no Tier 1 financial instruments during the prior
year. The Group had no Tier 2 or Tier 3 financial instruments during the current or prior year and no
movements between tiers of financial instrument during the year.

Note 20 Dividends

No dividends were paid or proposed during the financial year ended 30 June 2025.
The Company has no franking credits available as at 30 June 2025.

Note 21 Key management personnel disclosures

(a) Directors and key management personnel

The following persons were directors or key management personnel of Riversgold Ltd during the year:

Mr David Lenigas Executive Chairman (Appointed 10 March 2022)

Mr Simon Andrew Non-executive Director (Appointed 28 August 2019)
Mr Edward (Ed) Mead  Non-executive Director (Appointed 21 November 2022)
Ms Oonagh Malone Company Secretary (Appointed 4 January 2021)

There were no other persons employed by or contracted to the Company during the financial year, having
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, either directly or
indirectly.

(b) Key management personnel compensation

A summary of total compensation paid to key management personnel during the year is as follows:

2025 2024

$ S

Total short-term employment benefits 539,701 583,953
Total share-based payments? - -
Total post-employment benefits 366,600 15,865
906,301 599,818

The fair value of share-based payments granted to Directors as remuneration is included in the financial
statements over the periods that they vest.
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Note 22 Remuneration of auditors

2025 2024

$ $

Audit and review of the Company’s financial 52,711 56,095
statements

Total 52,711 56,095

Note 23 Contingencies
(a) Contingent liabilities

There were no material contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial statements of the Group as
at 30 June 2025 other than:

Native Title and Aboriginal Heritage

Native title claims have been made with respect to areas which include tenements in which the Group has
an interest pursuant to various share sale and asset acquisition agreements.

The Group is unable to determine the prospects for success or otherwise of the claims and, in any event,
whether or not and to what extent the claims may significantly affect the Group or its projects. Agreement
is being or has been reached with various native title claimants in relation to Aboriginal Heritage issues
regarding certain areas in which the Group has an interest.

(b) Contingent consideration receivable

The following payments are receivable by the Group on definition of the following resources within the
area of the tenements sold with the Afranex (Alaska) Limited sale that was completed in 2023.

e SUSD1,000,000 payable on the definition of an inferred mineral resource of 500,000 oz Au, and
e SUSD1,000,000 payable on the definition of an inferred mineral resource of 1,000,000 oz Au.
Note 24 Commitments
(a) Exploration

The Group has certain obligations to perform minimum exploration work on mineral leases held. These
obligations may be varied as a result of renegotiations of the terms of the exploration licences or their
relinquishment. The minimum exploration obligations are less than the normal level of exploration
expected to be undertaken by the Group.

As at balance date, total exploration expenditure commitments on tenements held by the Group have not
been provided for in the financial statements. Commitments for the following twelve-month period
amount to approximately $57,201 (2024: $26,113).

(b) Contractual Commitment

There are no material contractual commitments as at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024 not otherwise
disclosed in the Financial Statements.
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Note 25 Related party transactions

(a) Subsidiaries

Ownership Interest

Inf:z::;:zgin 30 June 30 June

2025 2024
Riversgold (Australia) Pty Ltd Australia Riversgold Ltd 100% 100%
RGL MVL Pty Ltd Australia Riversgold Ltd 100% 100%
EV Minerals Pty Ltd Australia Riversgold Ltd 100% 100%
Riversgold (Canada) Pty Ltd* Australia Riversgold Ltd 100% -
Riversgold Canada Inc.? Canada Riversgold (Canada) Pty Ltd 100% -

1. Riversgold Canada Pty Ltd was incorporated on 22 October 2024.

2. Riversgold Canada Inc. was incorporated in Ontario on 2 December 2024.
The ultimate controlling party of the group is Riversgold Ltd.
(b) Loans to controlled entities

The following amounts are payable to the parent company, Riversgold Ltd, at the reporting date. These
amounts are eliminated on consolidation.

30 June 2025 30 June 2024

S S
Riversgold (Australia) Pty Ltd 8,918,644 7,921,846
EV Minerals Pty Ltd 2,947,571 2,869,120
RGL MVL Pty Ltd 1,436,610 1,437,190

(c) Transactions with Directors

Transactions with Directors, as directors of the Company, during the year are disclosed at Note 21 — Key
Management Personnel.

Fees of $44,792 (exclusive of GST) were owed to Directors at 30 June 2025 for $16,667 of David Lenigas’
director fees, $10,000 for Ed Mead’s director fees, and $18,125 for Ed Mead’s geological consulting fees.
(30 June 2024: $19,058 owed to Director Ed Mead for $5,000 of director fees, $9,250 of geological
consulting fees and $4,808 for expenditure reimbursements).

There are no other related party transactions, other than those already disclosed elsewhere in this
financial report.
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Note 26 Events occurring after the balance date

On 9 August 2025, 10,800,000 share options with an exercise price of $0.05 per share and an expiry date
of 9 August 2025 ceased on expiry without exercise or conversion. This included 2,000,000 options held
by a related party of Director Simon Andrew and 2,000,000 options held by Director Ed Mead.

On 13 August 2025, 50,000,000 performance rights ceased following expiry without vesting, exercise or
conversion.

On 15 September 2025, the Company announced the farm-out of the St John Project comprising all
Canadian tenements to Canadian listed A.I.S. Resources Limited (AIS) with:

e 2,860,000 AIS shares at an agreed value of SCADO0.05 per share to be issued to the Company on
signing;

e Required exploration expenditure by AIS of SCAD400,000 in the first year and required
exploration expenditure by AIS of $CAD1,000,000 in the second year for AlS to earn 51% interest
in the project;

e Required exploration expenditure by AIS of SCAD3,00,000 over the third and fourth year for AIS
to earn 75% interest in the project; and

e The Company retaining a 25% interest through to decision to mine.

Director David Lenigas advanced funds totalling $80,284 and Company Secretary Oonagh Malone
advanced funds totalling $10,000 between 1 August 2025 and 26 September 2025, with these advances
on interest free unsecured terms.

On 30 September 2025, the Company announced:

e Thesigning of a Right to Mine and Co-Operation Agreement with MEGA Resources Pty Ltd (MEGA)
for project funding, mining and haulage at the Northern Zone Gold Project with granted tenement
P25/2651. This agreement is contingent on the conversion of tenement P25/2651 into mining
license M25/389 and all necessary third-party approvals. Following the commencement of
commercial production in the mining area on a cash-flow positive basis and funds being retained
for rehabilitation, exploration and grade control requirements, the Company will receive 40% of
the net cashflow from this project, with Oracle Gold Pty Ltd (current holder of a 20% interest in
the Project) to receive 10% of the net cashflow and Bain Global Resources Pty Ltd (the financier
of MEGA) to receive 50% of the net cashflow.

e The receipt of firm commitments for a share placement to raise $1,800,000 from the issue of
400,000,000 shares at $S0.0045 per share to unrelated parties, with shares expected to be issued
on 6 October 2025, unless all funds are received before then.

e The proposed issues, subject to shareholder approval, of a total of 80,000,000 4-year share
options with an exercise price of $0.012 and 80,000,000 4-year share options with an exercise
price of $0.015 to Directors David Lenigas, Simon Andrew and Ed Mead, and Company Secretary
Oonagh Malone, with each of these to receive 20,000,000 of each tranche of these options.

Other than stated above there has not arisen between the end of the financial year and the date of this
report any item of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company to
affect substantially the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of
the Group in subsequent financial years.
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Note 27 Reconciliation of loss after tax to net cash inflow from operating activities

Consolidated
2025 2024

Restated
S S

Loss after income tax (510,854) (6,094,093)
Adjustment for non-cash items:
Share-based payment to acquire mineral

exploration interest 96,956 229,600
Share-based payments (gain)/ expense (1,911,806) 554,558
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment - 15,948
Depreciation 8,127 12,096
Bad debt written off - 8,567
Share of net loss of associate accounted for
using equity method 4,532 15,224
Net foreign exchange differences - (2,624)
Movement in assets and liabilities:
Decrease in receivables 16,810 58,273
Decrease/ (increase) in current financial assets 10,359 (9,646)
Decrease/ (increase) in other current assets 24,214 (25,194)
Increase/ (decrease) in payables 31,027 (169,081)*
Increase/ (decrease) in employee leave liabilities 6,603 (617)
Net cash outflow from operating activities (2,224,032) (5,406,989)

* The decrease in payables for 2024 of ($169,081) has been revised following the change in accounting
policy disclosed in note 4.

There were no non-cash investment or financing activities during the year other than the following share-
based payment for capital raising costs:

e Issue of options with a value of $31,380 to Eli Capital Pty Ltd recognised as a capital raising cost
as disclosed in note 19.

There were no non-cash investment or financing activities during the year other than the following share-
based payment for capital raising costs:
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Note 28 Loss per share

Consolidated

2025 2024
Restated
a) Basic loss per share Cents Cents
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
for continuing operations (0.033) (0.62)
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
(0.033) (0.62)
b) Diluted loss per share
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
for continuing operations (0.033) (0.62)
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
(0.033) (0.62)
c) Loss used in calculation of basic and diluted loss per
share $ $
Consolidated loss after tax from continuing operations (510,854) (6,094,093)
Consolidated loss after tax (510,854) (6,094,093)
d) Weighted average number of shares used
as the denominator No. No.
Weighted average number of shares used as the
denominator in calculating basic and dilutive loss per share 1,560,138,827 989,742,859

At 30 June 2025 the Company has on issue 516,675,000 (30 June 2024: 46,800,000) unlisted options over
ordinary shares that are not considered to be dilutive.
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Note 29 Parent entity information

Financial position

Assets
Cash
Other current assets
Non-current assets — other

Total Assets

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Total Liabilities

NET ASSETS

Equity
Issued Capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses

TOTAL EQUITY

Financial performance
Loss for the period
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive loss

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries

Company

2025

$

2024
Restated
S

223,647 775,547
39,030 80,719
20,658 28,785

283,336 885,051
228,173 228,173
228,173 228,173
49,692 656,878
37,236,300 35,474,161
4,653,056 6,511,526

(41,839,664) (41,328,810)
49,692 656,878

510,854 5,738,529
510,854 5,738,529

No guarantees have been entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiary

companies.

Contingent liabilities

For full details of contingencies see Note 23.
Commitments

For full details of commitments see Note 24.
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Consolidated Entity Disclosure Statement
As at 30 June 2025

Basis of preparation

This consolidated entity disclosure statement has been prepared in accordance with the s295(3A)(a) of the
Corporations Act 2001 and includes the required information for Riversgold Ltd and the entities it controls
in accordance with AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements.

Tax residency

S295(3A)(vi) of the Corporations Act 2001 defines tax residency as having the meaning in the Income Tax
Assessment Act 1997. The determination of tax residency may involve judgement as there are different
interpretations that could be adopted and which could give rise to different conclusions regarding
residency.

In determining tax residency, the consolidated entity has applied the following interpretations:
Australian tax residency

Current legislation and judicial precent has been applied, including having regard to the Tax Commissioners
public guidance.

Foreign tax residency
Where appropriate, independent tax advisers have been engaged to assist in the determination of tax

residency to ensure applicable foreign tax legislation has been complied with.

Trusts and partnerships

Australian tax law generally does not contain residency tests for trusts and partnerships and these entities
are typically taxed on a flow-through basis. Additional disclosures regarding the tax status of trusts and
partnerships have been included where relevant.

Name of entity Type of entity  Trustee, % share Country of Australian Foreign
partner, or capital incorporation resident jurisdiction
participant or foreign of foreign
inJV resident  residents

Riversgold Ltd Body corporate N/A N/A Australia Australian N/A

Riversgold Body corporate N/A 100 Australia Australian N/A

(Australia) Pty Ltd

RGL MVL Pty Ltd Body corporate N/A 100 Australia Australian N/A

EV Minerals Pty Ltd Body corporate N/A 100 Australia Australian N/A

Riversgold (Canada) Body corporate N/A 100 Australia Australian N/A

Pty Ltd

Riversgold Canada  Body corporate N/A 100 Canada Foreign Canada

Inc.
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Directors’ Declaration
In the opinion of the Directors of Riversgold Ltd (“the Company”)

(a) the accompanying financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including:

(i) complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001 and
other mandatory professional reporting requirements; and
(ii) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2025 and of the

performance for the period ended on that date of the Group.
(b) the consolidated entity disclosure statement is true and correct.

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and
when they become due and payable.

(d) the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as set out in
Note 1.

The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001
from the Executive Chairman and Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent) for the financial year ended 30

June 2024.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Signed at Perth this 30th day of September 2025.

David Lenigas
Executive Chairman
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of Riversgold Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report
Opinion

We have audited the financial report of Riversgold Limited (“the Company”) and its controlled entities (“the
Group”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2025, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial
statements, including material accounting policy information, the consolidated entity disclosure statement
and the directors’ declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2025 and of its financial
performance for the year then ended; and

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.
Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements
of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence
Standards) (“the Code”) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 1(a) in the financial report, which indicates that a material uncertainty exists that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified
in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. There were no key audit matters in addition to that described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section of this report.

hib.com.au

HLB Mann Judd ABN 22 193 232 714

A Western Australian Partnership

Level 4, 130 Stirling Street, Perth WA 6000 / PO Box 8124 Perth BC WA 6849

T: +61 (0)8 9227 7500 E: mailbox@hlbwa.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

HLB Mann Judd is a member of HLB International, the global advisory and accounting network.
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Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2025, but does not include the financial
report and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report, or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of:

(a) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and fair
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001; and

(b) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001; and

for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of:

(a) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and fair
view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

(b) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this
financial report.
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As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

—  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats
or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

REPORT ON THE REMUNERATION REPORT
Opinion on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included within the Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June
2025.
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In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Riversgold Limited for the year ended 30 June 2025 complies
with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Responsibilities

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration
Report in accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing

Standards.
HLB Mann Judd N G Neill
Chartered Accountants Partner

Perth, Western Australia
30 September 2025
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